TORBAY COUNCIL

Tuesday, 01 October 2024

ﬂDULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
SUB-BOARD

A meeting of Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board
will be held on

Thursday, 10 October 2024

commencing at 2.00 pm

The meeting will be held in the Banking Hall, Castle Circus entrance on the left
corner of the Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR

Members of the Board
Councillor Tolchard (Chairwoman)

Councillor Brook Councillor Foster (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Douglas-Dunbar Councillor Johns

A Healthy, Happy and Prosperous Torbay

Download this agenda via the free modern.gov app on your iPad, Android Device
or Blackberry Playbook. For information relating to this meeting or to request a
copy in another format or language please contact:

Governance Support, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk - www.torbay.gov.uk

(1)



https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
SUB-BOARD
AGENDA

Apologies

Minutes (Pages 5 -12)
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the

Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board

held on 5 September 2024.

Declarations of Interest
a) To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect
of items on this agenda

For reference: Having declared their non pecuniary interest
members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on the
matter in question. A completed disclosure of interests form
should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the
meeting.

b) To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in
respect of items on this agenda

For reference: Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the
item. However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make
representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public
have a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then
immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not
improperly seek to influence the outcome of the matter. A
completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the
Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting.

(Please Note: If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on
any potential interests they may have, they should contact
Governance Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.)

Urgent Items
To consider any other items that the Chairwoman decides are
urgent.

Torbay and South Devon NHS Trust Quality Account 2024 (Pages 13 - 112)
To review the Quality Account for 2024 and provide feedback to the
Trust.

(Note: presented by Liz Davenport, Chief Executive, Torbay and
South Devon NHS Foundation Trust and Nicola McMinn, Chief
Nurse, Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust).

New diagnostic unit in Market Street - 2024

To receive a presentation from the South Devon NHS Foundation
Trust on the performance of the diagnostic unit together with the
performance against diagnostic targets versus actual targets.



(Note: to be presented by Caroline Cozens, Director of Capital
Developments, New Hospital Programme Director, Torbay and
South Devon NHS Foundation Trust).

Infection prevention and control - incorporating vaccine (Pages 113 - 124)
preventable illnesses and antimicrobial resistance (AMR)

To note the report and to support efforts to tackle the spread of

infection and antimicrobial resistance.

(Note: presented by Dr Lincoln Sargeant, Director of Public Health,
Julia Chisnell, Consultant in Public Health and Mandy Guy, Health
Protection Specialist).

Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board (Pages 125 - 130)
Action Tracker

To receive an update on the implementation of the actions of the

Sub-Board and consider any further actions required (as set out in

the submitted action tracker).



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 2
TORBAY COUNCIL

Minutes of the Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny
Sub-Board

5 September 2024
-: Present :-

Councillor Tolchard (Chairwoman)

Councillors Brook, Foster (Vice-Chair), Long and Douglas-Dunbar

Non-voting Co-opted Members
Amanda Moss (Chair of the Voluntary Sector Network)
Pat Harris (Healthwatch Torbay)

(Also in attendance: Councillors Tranter and Bye)

Apologies

It was reported that, in accordance with the wishes of the Liberal Democrat Group
and Conservative Group, the membership of the Sub-Board had been amended to
include Councillors Long and Brook in place of Councillors Johns and Fellows
respectively.

Minutes

The minutes of the meeting of the Sub-Board held on 8 August 2024 were
confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairwoman.

Director of Public Health Annual Report - Women's Health

The Director of Public Health and Public Health Specialist provided an overview of
the key themes and recommendations from the forthcoming Director of Public
Health Annual Report which focused on health and wellbeing of women as set out
in the submitted report. The key themes were:

Women, employment and household labour;
Working with vulnerable women;
Discrimination, inclusion and exclusion;
Connecting with communities;

Reproductive Health; and

Barriers to being physically active.

Members asked questions around the lack of detailed information presented in the
report; it was known that men were reluctant to go to the GP when they should
have done so, was this the same for women; a lot of younger people were getting
seriously ill e.g. people with cancer in their 30s, what was being done to

Page 5



Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Thursday, 5 September 2024

encourage people to seek help and go to their GP; were people from LGBTQ+
groups actively involved in providing feedback as part of the evidence gathering;
what were women'’s health hubs; and the Council’s Economic Development Team
were developing an Employment and Skills Plan was there work that this Team
could contribute to help Public Health with their data and inform the plan in a
joined up way.

The Chief Executive of Healthwatch Torbay advised that Healthwatch had
undertaken a survey on men’s health as part of a pilot but the funding was
withdrawn. Women usually had more contact with medical professionals due to
contraceptives and pregnancy but there was a need to ensure an integrated
approach to meet the needs of both men and women. Ms Harris raised concern
that Healthwatch Reports were shared with the Council but they did not always
receive feedback on the impact their reports had.

In response to questions Members were advised that the detailed report was still
being developed ready to present to the launch event on 9 October 2024, which all
Members had been invited to attend. The Director of Public Health felt that it was
important to bring the overview to the Sub-Board to enable them to feed into the
final report, with a view to Members monitoring the progress against the action
plans which will emerge from the report later in the year, in the same way they
were monitoring Cardiovascular Disease which was an action from last year’s
Annual Report. Women’s Health had been chosen this year to highlight that
although progress had been made there were still areas for improvement and to
focus on issues such as culture and heritage, sexuality and gender identity that
may present barriers in women’s access and experience of healthcare services.
Women tend to access healthcare more than men and a focus on the health of
women could benefit the whole family. Key data around this was included in the
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, which was another key piece of work carried
out by Public Health.

Members were informed that Torbay was an outlier for poor health of working age
people as well as having an aging population with high relatively high proportion of
people with disabilities and poor health in poorer areas. There needed to be a
more joined up approach looking at the whole population when dealing with health
and wellbeing as well as looking at sub-groups where disparities may exist.

Members were informed that there was a huge disparity between health services
for men and women with more funding for women’s health than men and there
needed to be a more joined up approach looking at the whole body when dealing
with health and wellbeing. Torbay was an outlier for poor health of working age
people as well as having an aging population. With high numbers of people with
disabilities or poor health in poorer areas.

The Sub-Board noted that many different groups had been consulted and engaged
with but that people from the LGBTQ+ community felt that they had been over
consulted, however, views were obtained from non-binary individuals as well as
discussions around transgender. Members acknowledged the need to show
sensitivity around gender and show compassion for those involved.

Members were advised that part of the Government’s National Women’s Health
Strategy 2022 was the creation of Women’s Health Hubs with two year’s funding

Page 6



Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Thursday, 5 September 2024

provided to the Integrated Care Board (ICBs). One Devon ICB was working with
Public Health Teams across Devon to give better pathways for women’s health
across the County through GP services in Torbay as Devon was too small an area
to create individual Women’s Health Hubs.

In response to questions Members were advised that the support for women in
employment required a holistic approach to supporting women with childcare to
enable them access to health services, working with employers to support women
who were returning to work. This was one of the proposed workstreams which
would be developed over the year.

Resolved (unanimously):
1. that the Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board
notes the Director of Public Health’s Annual Report 2024: Women’s Health

and that the Cabinet be requested to support:

o development of flexible and inclusive employment practices to reflect
and encourage women into education and employment;

o raising awareness of the impact of domestic abuse on women who
experience it, and the sensitivity of response needed to meet their
needs;

o improvement to access, experience and outcomes for women’s

healthcare through Torbay’s women’s health hub;

o recognition and support of grass roots women’s groups and activities
as integral components of mental health and wellbeing provision;

o development of integrated service delivery pathways for women’s
health care, reducing the need to attend multiple appointments for
routine health care; and

o development of inclusive approaches that facilitate and support girls
and women to become more physically active.

2. that the final Director of Public Health’s Annual Report be presented to
members of the Sub-Board at the launch on 9 October 2024; and

3. that the outcomes arising from the Director of Public Health’s Annual Report
be presented to a future meeting of the Sub-Board.

9. Building Heart Healthy Communities in Torbay

Dr Samuel Trethewey Public Health Registrar and Dr John McGuinness GP
provided an update on the implementation of the actions arising from the 2023
Director of Public Health’s Annual report which focussed on cardiovascular
disease (CVD) as set out in the submitted report and presentation which was
circulated after the meeting. The overall goal was ‘we want everyone to have an
equal chance to thrive physically, mentally, socially and economically’. Prior to the

Page 7



Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Thursday, 5 September 2024

meeting Members of the Sub-Board had their blood pressure taken as part of the
‘know your numbers’ week.

The Director of Public Health thanked the Trainee Registrar and GPs who had
been working with the Public Health Team to address Cardiovascular Disease and
help provide professional insight into the work of the Team.

Members asked questions in relation to what preventative action was being
undertaken in deprived areas such as Watcombe; were employers encouraged to
support employees in accessing services and identifying illness sooner; health
checks for 40 to 74 year olds and why this stopped at 74; what happens when the
funding for cardiovascular disease runs out; the lack of adequate information and
advice to the public when they were identified as being at risk of high blood
pressure or high cholesterol and the lifestyle and diet changes recommended; the
cost of the Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan and what cheaper alternatives
could be explored; how many people were told they should go to the GP with high
blood pressure but refused to go as they believe they would just be told to loose
weight etc; and what was being done to tackle childhood obesity which could lead
to longer term health issues including CVD.

Pat Harris, Chief Executive of Healthwatch thanked the Public Health Team for
their support with the Community Hub which demonstrated the opportunities to
work together with key partners in the community. Previously people were trained
as Covid Champions to support people in the community and there was an
opportunity to train people to become health champions. Healthwatch was also
working with the Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust to support
people waiting for surgery through the Community Hub.

In response to questions Members were advised that there were often barriers to
accessing services which were often economic or social, based on affordability
and availability of transport to appointments and the impact on working people and
those who had caring responsibilities. The work carried out at the Community Hub
was a good pilot and would help provide evidence of the impact of providing
support in the community to enable this to be rolled out wider, looking at libraries
and other community settings. The Public Health Team had been working with our
anchor organisations to try to encourage more support to their employees’ health
and wellbeing, there had been a mixed response and it was important to get the
right message. Focus was on organisations where staff were likely to be higher
risk e.g. smoking and overweight. It was suggested that an organisation that helps
people with their health and wellbeing could be seen as more attractive and it was
guestioned if there could be a charter mark or similar standard for this.

The NHS health check was a nationally funded initiative and pilots were being
undertaken in work places to try to encourage take up. However, it was noted that
communication to patients about the health checks was varied across each GP
practice although Torbay had higher take up than some areas. More work was
required to ensure a more consistent approach was taken across the whole of
Torbay with individuals being invited for a health check at least once every five
years. The cut off age of 74 was set nationally but this did not mean that people
over 74 should not receive any health screening and can access as needed by
their GPs depending on their individual circumstances and risk.

Page 8



Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Thursday, 5 September 2024

10.

Members were informed that there were issues around sustainability of support for
cardiovascular disease initiatives such as the library loan scheme for blood
pressure machines with stop and start funding but there were other options to
upskill people in the community and investing the funding where it would have the
most benefit.

The Director of Public Health advised that whilst the Cycling and Walking
Infrastructure Plan was being developed the Council and community need to think
differently about how to improve access to walking and cycling making the most of
existing paths and what action would need to be taken to make routes accessible
to everyone.

It was noted that monitoring information had been sought from community
pharmacists, GPs, libraries and other areas as well as the BP monitor pilot
guestionnaire to ask what category people were in with their blood pressure and if
they shared the results with a healthcare professional and did they make any
changes as a result. However, the key factor to improve outcomes for people at
risk of cardiovascular disease was behaviour change this would take time to
implement. It was important to look at the person and family/friends as a whole as
behaviour was not just an individual issue and many health related issues were
linked.

Members were advised that initiatives such as ‘Torbay on the Move’ and the
national child measurement programme were carried out in schools and when
children were identified as being overweight a letter was sent out to the parents.
However, the Public Health Team would like to see more done in the community
with both children and adults to support change for the whole family which will help
improve health outcomes in the future.

The Sub-Board acknowledged the relative lack of engagement in the community of
professional health services when it came to sustaining behaviour change and that
people were more likely to engage through community groups, local sports and
social groups. More could be done to provide facilities such as blood pressure
monitors out in the community to reach more people, as well as better sign posting
and sharing of fact sheets with actual numbers rather than percentages as they
were more meaningful.

Resolved (unanimously):

That the Director of Public Health be recommended to work with Your Health
Torbay and GP Practices to review signposting information to patients once they
have been identified as having or being at risk from cardiovascular disease or high
cholesterol etc. to provide better signposting to relevant support and options for
improved wellbeing and not assume that people know what actions they should be
taking and to develop relevant factsheets for Councillors and members of the
community to use to encourage people to identify issues and follow up with
relevant behaviour changes or seek necessary support.

Healthwatch Annual Report

Kevin Dixon, Chairman and Pat Harris, Chief Executive of Healthwatch Torbay
presented the Healthwatch in Devon, Plymouth and Torbay Annual Report for

Page 9



Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Thursday, 5 September 2024

2023/2024 which set out a summary of the work undertaken by Healthwatch over
the past 12 months. It was a statutory requirement to produce an annual report.

Members asked questions in relation to what was happening with maternity and
dementia services; was Healthwatch involved in the emerging Director of Public
Health’s Annual Report; page 28 of the report mentions Healthwatch websites and
helplines was this information on the Council’s website; and was there anything
the Council could do to provide information to the new Members of Parliament to
raise awareness of the 31,000 pensioners who were going to lose their winter fuel
payment.

In response to questions Ms Harris advised that Healthwatch was working with the
Devon-wide Dementia Strategy and could help provide links with Torbay Hospital
for dementia and maternity services, however, this was a national issue and there
was a need to ensure joined up working and exploration of actions that could be
taken now but ensure sustainability. There were a lot of priorities and focus
should be given to the top ten things Healthwatch can do with our communities to
help them. Healthwatch had not been involved with the Director of Public Health’s
Annual Report but this was acknowledged at the meeting.

Members were advised that Healthwatch was already working closely with
Torbay’s two Members of Parliament and were also looking to promote support on
the cost of living through the Community Hub in partnership with Citizen’s Advice,
as well as putting winter warmth events on. It was noted that the Household
Support Fund had been announced up to March 2025 and the Torbay
Communities was working with people, including on a one to one basis to help
them access the relevant support.

All present thanked Healthwatch for their work with the community and illuminating
their voices and it was acknowledged that there was a need to explore digital
inequalities and access to health and wellbeing services.

Resolved (unanimously):

1. that the Healthwatch Annual Report 2023/2024 be noted and the Sub-
Board supports and recognises the essential and valuable work of
Healthwatch Torbay;

2. that the Director of Public Health be requested to liaise with Healthwatch on
relevant strategies to see where they can help to engage and represent the
voice of the user and to ensure that Healthwatch are informed of the impact
of any of their reports;

3. that the Director of Public Health be requested to include a link to the
Healthwatch website and contact details on the Council's website to raise
awareness; and

4. that the Director of Adult and Community Services be requested to produce
a brief guide on the current cost of living social support available and that
this message also be shared with the Public Health Team to include with
their communications around system winter planning.

Page 10



Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Thursday, 5 September 2024

11.

Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Action
Tracker

The Sub-Board noted the submitted action tracker. Councillor Brook advised that
he had contacted Tara Harris to track work on homelessness but a meeting had

not yet been arranged. The Democratic Services Team Leader agreed to chase
the meeting.

Members requested the revised Dementia Strategy be presented to a future
meeting of the Sub-Board.

Chairwoman

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Agenda Iltem 5
NHS

Torbay and South Devon
NHS Foundation Trust

Quality Account
2023/24

BUILDING A

Bnighter
re

improving health & care
in Torbay & South Devon

Page 13



Contents

Part 1: Our Chief Executive’s statement on quality
Part 2: Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance
from our Board of Directors
2.1 priorities for improvement 2023/24
2.2 priorities for improvement 2024/25
2.3 statements from our Board of Directors
Part 3: Our quality indicators
Annex 1: Statement of Directors’ responsibilities for the Quality
Account
Annex 2: Quality Account engagement
Annex 3: statements from stakeholders and partners
Annex 4: National clinical audits (and a number of local audits)
Annex 5: Mortality and learning from deaths
Annex 6: Mandatory indicators

Glossary

Page 14

Page

14
17
31
47

48
49
56
75
76
78

Page 2 of 79



Part 1: Our Chief Executive’s statement on quality

| am proud to introduce our quality account for 2023/24. It has been an important
year in which we have had to further adapt and transform in order to address the
continuing impact of the pandemic.

We are working closer than ever before with our partners in the Devon health and
care system with our people and teams exploring different ways of working to reduce
the time that people are waiting for care, improve patient outcomes and experience
and improve the sustainability of all our services, in particularly through our
Peninsula Acute Provider Collaborative with other acute providers in Devon,
Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.

We have made significant progress in reducing waiting times in our planned care
and cancer services. We have continued to see the benefits that working as an
integrated care organisation brings with one of the lowest length of hospital stay in
the country as well as consistently low numbers of people in our hospital beds who
are well enough to go home.

However, demand for our urgent and emergency care services remained high
throughout the year and our performance against key national targets remained
below our expectations despite the hard work and dedication of our teams. This will
remain a key area of focus for us. We are determined to improve further our
performance in access to planned and emergency care and achieve the highest
standard in our fundamental care and safety standards.

Our compassionate leadership approach is beginning to embed across our services
and our inclusion training, #ltStartsWithMe, is supporting us to create a culture
where people feel supported, healthy and safe. We are transforming how we
respond and learn from patient safety issues, promoting a just and learning culture
and ensuring compassionate engagement and involvement of those affected by
patient safety incidents.

Recruitment and retention remain key issues and supporting our people to develop
and grow is central to our work. We have taken further steps this year to widen
participation for our local communities introducing volunteer to career and partnering
with the Open University to offer nursing training with guaranteed local placements.
We remain committed to supporting the health and wellbeing of our people so that
we can deliver the best care we can.

Throughout everything we do, we continually strive to improve and deliver excellent,
high quality, safe care to people who use our services in partnership with them. We
passionately believe that the best way to care for people is by focusing on what
matters to them, putting them at the centre of everything we do and integrating
services around them. We believe that care as close to home as possible benefits
everyone. This remains at the heart of our vision and our strategy.

| want to thank all of our people for their commitment to providing high quality care,
particularly in busy and challenging times. It is because of their dedication and

Page 15 Page 3 of 79



passion that we have seen improvements over the last year and look towards
2024/25 with hope for a brighter future for our people and our communities.

| hope you will find this Quality Account interesting and informative in setting out
what our teams and services have achieved over the past year and what we intend
to do over the next 12 months.

< )
%@mlw\
Lo '
Chief Executive

26 June 2024

Page 16 Page 4 of 79



Part 2: Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance from our Board
of Directors

What is a quality account?

A Quality Account is an annual report that providers of NHS healthcare services must
publish to inform the public of the quality of the services they provide. This not only
tells people what we are doing to provide the best care we can but supports us to be
open and transparent about the quality of our services, helps us focus on areas
where we want to improve and aids us in embedding a culture of continuous quality
improvement across our organisation.

Each year we collect a large amount of information on the quality of the service we
provide within three areas defined by the Department of Health and Social Care:
patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience.

This information has been used to report on our progress against the priority areas
we identified for improvement in 2023/24.

Our quality priority areas for next year, 2024/25, are also included. We have

developed these in line with the CQC ‘we statements’ which are designed to put the
person at the centre of their care.

Page 17 Page 5 of 79



2.1 Priorities for improvement 2023/24
Our priorities for 2023/24 were aligned to our four quality and patient safety goals
and sought to embed improvements made the previous year.

9

Zero
Avoidable

Deaths :

Reduce
Harm

Excellence
In Clinical
Outcomes

For each quality goal we identified one or more quality improvement priorities.
These were:

Zero avoidable deaths: improve identification and management of sepsis
Continuously seek out and reduce harm: improve compliance around patient risk
assessments with a focus on nutrition and hydration and a reduction in patient falls;
nutrition and hydration.

Excellence in outcomes: improved identification of the deteriorating patient

Deliver what matters most to our people: improve experience for people being
discharged home

Page 18 Page 6 of 79



What we did and how we did
Zero avoidable deaths: improve identification and management of sepsis

Sepsis is a rare but serious complication of an infection. Without quick treatment,
sepsis can lead to multiple organ failure and death. All NHS organisations focus on
ensuring that when a person presents with symptoms that may be related to sepsis,
key clinical interventions are initiated in line with the national standards which as
described as the ‘sepsis bundle’.

Our aim was to improve our identification and management of people with sepsis to
reduce the number of people in our communities who die from septic shock.

Our primary focus has been within our Emergency Department at Torbay Hospital.

What we did

Welc i
- ome to Acute Medical Unit

v we strengthened the clinical
leadership for our quality
improvement programme

v' we established our overarching
sepsis improvement group and
established our audit framework

v' we introduced a new audit tool

v' we commissioned a new training
package for our clinical teams

How we did
Against a goal of 100% compliance with the sepsis bundle, we achieved, on
average, 86.9% in our Emergency Department.

In relation to the other key interventions, we have delivered each one. We now have
a well-attended trustwide sepsis group, inclusive of strengthened clinical leadership
with a designated senior nursing and medical lead.

The group’s initial key deliverables were to bring together our first trustwide sepsis
clinical policy. This policy covers adult and paediatric care in our acute and
community setting and is live both on our internet page and microbiology guide.

We commissioned and rolled out a full sepsis awareness e learning package for
adults, paediatrics and care workers. To date we have trained 3,122 clinical staff
meaning we are 68.9% complaint with this training.

We will continue to prioritise our work to identify and manage patients at risk of
sepsis promptly to reduce harm. This area will remain a priority for 2024/5.

Page 19 Page 7 of 79



Percentage Compliance for the Sepsis

Continuously seek out and reduce harm: improve compliance around patient risk
assessments with a focus on nutrition and hydration and a reduction in patient falls;
nutrition and hydration.

For us this means getting the fundamentals of care right every time. On admission to
hospital and when being looked after in the community there are a range of risk
assessments that must be undertaken to ensure we are identifying people at risk
including falls, malnutrition and dehydration.

In doing so we can safely and appropriately put in place care interventions that are
personal and most relevant to a person’s need.

Our aims in 2022/23 were to:

e achieve 100% compliance with all risk assessments for people who are admitted
to hospital

e reduce the number of frail people falling when in hospital

e ensure everyone is assessed for nutrition and hydration risks within 24 hours of
admission to hospital.

Reducing falls

We recognised that there was a need to reduce the number of falls our people with
frailty were sustaining when in our hospital care. Research has shown that
multifactorial assessments and interventions that identify and treat the underlying
reasons for falls can reduce falls by around 25%.

We had two aims associated with falls reduction this year. These were: to reduce the
number of falls and to reduce the level of harm for any patient that sustains a fall
whilst in hospital. Our falls specialists continue to work across both acute and
community services to provide expert advice for all areas across our organisation
and they provide education across in-patient areas. The falls steering group meets
bi-monthly and is supported by an active service user.

The FallSafe audit does fluctuate depending on patient complexity, escalation and
staff capacity but does demonstrate that lying and standing blood pressure (LSBP)
measurements are being taken and the figure is maintained at around 70 -75%. Our
wards are being briefed on new guidance and post fall bed-based training is being
developed with greater competency and involvement from our Emergency
Department colleagues; senior support to release ward-based staff is essential to
gain engagement.

Page 20 Page 8 of 79



The falls incident management process of hot debrief/ after action review is being
well received and governance are looking to produce timing data on this, across all
in-patient wards. Falls training is ongoing, delivered through the fundamental skills
study day, ward training provided as requested and as part of preceptorship training.

We focused on improving the measurement of recording lying and standing blood
pressures with an ambition to achieve 50%.

We also committed to introducing a bedside visual assessment to ensure
appropriate measures are taken for patients with visual deficits.

What we did

v' fall safe bundle embedded including
a ‘lying and standing blood pressure’

v' training in ‘lying and standing blood
pressure’

v' piloting a visual assessment tool
which will roll out and be added to
the fall safe bundle

v’ piloting fall debriefing

How we did
We are now achieving a 45% compliance against a national average of 39% for lying
and standing blood pressure being recorded.

However, the reduction in falls we saw between 2021 and 2023 has plateaued
despite success in increasing the number of people completing the fall safe bundle
assessment.

There has been an increase in the number of hip fractures experienced by people
when in hospital, rising from 12 in 2022 to 20 in 2023. The graph overleaf
demonstrates the number of inpatient falls resulting in harm (moderate, severe and
death) so while the falls rate trend per thousand bed days is holding steady around
five, the harm-level is increasing. To draw the themes from the increase in hip
fractures and the overall increased levels of harm reported, a deep dive review is
being led by two of our consultants.

Page 21 Page 9 of 79




Monthly Summary

Bed Based Falls per 1,000 Occupied Bed Days

Year-on-Year Comparison

Bed Based Falls/1,000 OBDs By Caregroup - 2022/23 v 2023/24 YTD

2022/23 2023/24

Roling 12 Wonths Yeortodote Yeortodote D™t
70 Families & Communities 59 5.1 -0.8
60 + Medicine & Urgent Care 5.2 6.6 +14
1 Planned Care 37 28 -0.9
TOTAL 5.1 5.2 +0.1
40 +
30 +
20 +
Notes
10 +
00 + T 1 This report i concerned with falls regardiess of whether or not they have been recorded as having been
L B AT R ST < S I < B S 2 ‘caused by us'. (Figures reported in the QIG Dashboard exclude these)
F oW T Y &
L I A A w g . 2 R 2 Please note that ‘Bed Based' includes BOTH Hospital and 1/C Care Home falls.
T - . Trend 3 Louisa Cary ward is excluded.
4 The Bed Based Intermediate Care figures are only concerned with falls that have involved Patients
occupying beds provided under an Intermediate Care contract at the time of their fall
Monthly Figures
Bed Based Falls per 1,000 08Ds | Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
2022/23 78 55 41 5.6 43 42 34 51 S50 5.7 49 a7
2023/24 Year-to-date 5.6 46 6.1 54 49 5.2 45 49 a7 6.2 48
Einiicoc in tha tahls nhove inrlide hath innntionat fallc and falic in Care Hamac while ¢ b, ndor an armadkiata I, . .
Number of Moderate / Severe / Death Falls Rate of Mod. / Severe / Death Falls per 1,000 0BDs
Hospital Inpatient Only Hospital Inpatient Only
13 033
14 03s -
12 030
10 025
8 020
[ 018
1 0.09 009 04
4 010 °%
2 005
o 0.00
01 G2 03 049 01 O O3 O4 1 Q2 02 04 a1 O @3 o4 of 0 03 04 01 O O3 04 01 02 03 04 01 O O3 04
2020021 2021/22 pLIFRIPE] 202324 2020021 PLIFL k) 2022/23 2023724
2022/23 2023/24 Notes
@ @ @ @ | @ @ @ 2|7
¥TD 1 This report is concerned with falls regardless of whether
Falls per 1,000 OBDs 6.2 5.3 4.8 5.5 5.8 5.6 5.3 6.3 5.7 of not they have been recorded as having been "caused
| Wumber of Falls by us'. (Figures reported in the OJG D exclude
Total number of Falls 250 219 197 222 235 228 216 169 848 these
Number of Death Harm Falls o 2 1 o 2 1 1] 1] 3 2 Louisa Cary ward is excleded.
Nurnber of Severe Harm Falls 2 1 1 5 2 2 9 1 14
Number of Moderate Harm Falls 2 2 1 5 2 5 3 5 15
Nurmber of Low Harm Falls n 56 50 64 &7 n 83 7 318
Number of No Harm / Near Miss Falls 175 158 144 148 142 149 121 86 498

The Devon care coordination hub (Medvivo) pilot started on 20 December 2023. This
has led to increased workload for community teams and concerns about managing
more complex patients within the community. This then impacts the capacity of
teams to be able to carry out multifactorial falls assessments and interventions that
are evidence-based to reduce falls and the impact of falls. The falls team is working
closely with our community teams to identify ‘hot spots’ and reduce risk where

possible.

Community post fall training is well attended by care home and care agencies who
are keen to attend and respond to their residents who have fallen without waiting for
ambulances, where escalation is not required. For hospital staff who provide bed-
based care it has been challenging to attend falls training, this training has now been
revised to be more ‘hands on’ and the update has increased and remains and
ongoing focus. Feedback from staff has been positive.

Page 22

Page 10 of 79



Nutrition and hydration

We are What we did

"Making a Difference Every Day

v’ five a day audit of patient notes

v’ daily review by a nurse in charge

v' establishing our nutrition and hydration
council to focus on improvement
interventions

v launching our nutrition and hydration
campaign in spring 2022

v relaunching protected mealtimes on our
wards

v introducing greater daily monitoring in the
‘five a day’ audit

v increasing our mealtime companions (from
eight to 42)

v introducing more robust governance
processes

How we did

We achieved a 99.1% compliance for nutrition and hydration risk assessments being
completed in March and an average of 96.8% compliance over 2023/24 however
there is more we must do to ensure these are undertaken within the four-hour time
scale of admission as this level of compliance is lower and while there has been a
more sustained improvement in the last months of 2023/24, this still falls below the
100%.

We will now continue this work as business as usual with oversight via our care
groups.

Applicable Patients Receiving Mutritional Risk Assessment - Trustwide
e e — = = ]
B0% -

BOM -~

40%

20% <

0% -+ T T Y v v : . . .
Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23  Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oet-23 Mov-23 Dec-23 Jan-24  Feb-24 Mar-24

Agr23

May-23 | Jun-22 | hi-23 | Aug23 | Sep-23 | Oct-23 | Now-23 | Dec-23 | Jan-24 | Feb-24 | Mar-24
[ =t sl Bicivea ] 9n1%

oesw | 960% | smaw | omom | semw | ssaw | ssow | seew | sesw | srow | s |
| === Roceived <zahes | ozow | spaw | o2a% | ouvw |oisw | ssow | smaw | saaw | maaw | soaw | soaw | sosw |

Excellence in outcomes: improved identification of the deteriorating patient
In 2023/24 we said we would focus on improving clinical outcomes by better
supporting people whose condition is deteriorating when they are in hospital.

Our aim was for 100% of people to have physiological observations recorded at the
time of admission or on their initial assessment. We committed to using the National

Page 23 Page 11 of 79



Early Warning Score (NEWS) to monitor and understand ongoing plans for the
frequency of further observations. The aim of this priority is to improve clinical
outcomes by better recognise and support people whose condition is deteriorating in
hospital.

What we did

v’ strengthened and rolled out training in
NEWSs2, target uplift to 100%

v regular monitoring through our deteriorating
patient group

v’ targeted support for wards where
performance is low

How we did
Our compliance with recording vital signs monitoring is currently at 98%.

In March 2024 we achieved 89% compliance with the monitoring and timeliness of
observations on ‘vital pac’ and we are providing targeted support for any areas who
are not yet compliant.

We continued to deliver training and education to our staff to support identification
and escalation of the deteriorating patient. We have overachieved on our target of
85% of staff having attended training with 89.1% compliance. Audit of escalation

processes shows 100% escalation across surgery in March 2024; we will continue to
monitor to ensure consistency across all our inpatient services.

4. Has the correct escalation process been followed?
(Percentage responding 'Yes') - All Community Hospitals

100% - -
90% - -
80%

70% -

60% -
S50% |
40% -
30% -
20% -
10% -+

0% -

Deliver what matters most to our people: improve the experience for people being
discharged home

How we better prepare people and their families to go home from hospital was a key
priority are for us this year. We committed to ensuring that people are involved in
decisions about their care and appropriate arrangements are in place to ensure that
the transition home is safe, personal and compassionate to support wellbeing and

Page 24 Page 12 of 79




recovery. Staff will engage with social care staff to support safe discharge where
required.

What we did

v introduced our home for lunch programme

v' created our enhanced discharge lounge

v’ targeted support for wards where there was low
performance

v" undertook a review of preferred place of discharge

v’ follow-up with people to check on person-centred care

How we did

Patient feedback through the NHS patient survey 2023 showed we were performing

in the top 5% for the following:

¢ information was given on who to contact on discharge if you were worried about
your condition and treatment

e after leaving hospital did you get enough support

The survey provided assurance as no questions relating to discharge fell within the
bottom 5%.

Home for lunch: in March 2024 25% of people were discharged before 12 noon, a
5.7% increase from same period 2023. Compared to 73.3% before 5pm, again an
improvement of 6% on the same period for 2023. Annual achievement for 2023/24
pre 12 noon is 21.4% and pre 5pm 69.9%.

Enhanced discharge lounge — promoting a positive step to discharge - the number of
people being supported home through our discharge lounge has doubled. In 2022/23
we supported 764 people through our discharge lounge. For 2023/24 we supported
7,030 people through our discharge lounge.

People's preferred place of discharge is considered from the very start of their
admission. Data was not routinely collected regarding preferred place of discharge
on starting the discharge work however, this has subsequently changed. For March
2024 71 % of people were discharged to their preferred place. This in an improving
trend and one we will continue to monitor.

During the year we introduced a patient survey. Currently ten randomly selected
people who have been supported home each month are being contact to collect their
feedback on their experience of discharge to help us learn from their experience,
make improvements and share good practice.

The task and finish group achieved the goals set out. This will no longer be a quality

priority as it is now business as usual and will be monitored through our care groups
governance.

Page 25 Page 13 of 79



2.2 Priorities for improvement 2024/25
During the past year we have taken the opportunity to review our four quality goals.

Our remote rural and coastal communities have some of the highest levels of
deprivation in the country and, therefore, following feedback from colleagues,
patients and carers we have revised our quality goals to focus on the impact of
health inequalities for our people and communities.

Our quality improvement priorities are aligned with our revised quality goals and also
with our priorities for patient safety incident investigation.

We have identified our improvement priorities for each of our quality goals using ‘we

o

Reduce Health
Inequalities

statements’.

Excellence
In Clinical
Outcomes

Reduce health inequalities:

We are committed to seeking out and reducing health care inequalities across our
Devon health and care system while continuously improving the quality of care. The
impact of COVID-19 has not only increased the pressure across all aspects of health
and social care but those who live in our most deprived communities have seen an
increasing gap in health inequalities.

We have asked each of our four care groups to identify their focus based on their
identified and diverse needs, for example, reducing the prevalence of smoking or
improving access to services, and to develop plans to address this impact.

Continuously seek out and reduce harm:

Priority one: we are committed to continuing our work to promote the early
detection and treatment of sepsis. We will roll out our sepsis audit across the whole
organisation. We will reach more than 85% compliance with sepsis awareness
training consistently.

Priority two: we will strength the quality of our mental capacity act assessments. We
will ensure documentation is fully completed and contains all relevant details. We will
bring the recording of our mental capacity assessment in line with legislation and
issue mental capacity assessment documentation across our services.

Page 26 Page 14 of 79



We will monitor improvements via both ward level audits and a trustwide audit which
will be overseen by our mental capacity and safeguarding leads. The outcomes,
learning and recommendations will be shared across all our services.

We are reviewing our safeguarding and mental capacity act training matrices and
together with our practice education team we are looking at opportunities to increase
our people’s understanding of both the mental capacity act and safeguarding via
bitesize and ‘how to’ sessions. This will be supported by face-to-face training led by
mental capacity act and safeguarding leads. We will review our policies and
processes to ensure that they meet legislative frameworks, are patient centred and
safety focused.

Excellence in outcomes:

Priority one: We will reduce the number of falls across our services. We will reduce
the harm sustained from falls across our organisation. We will achieve this via
continued and consistent use of our falls safe bundle including visual assessment,
lying and standing blood pressure and ensuring a rapid review occurs for any
patients that falls.

Priority two: we will reduce long waits for urgent and emergency care. We will
reduce ambulance handover delays greater than 15 minutes. We are committed to
increasing the number of patients who are seen and have a decision made regarding
onward care or discharge within four hours of attending or emergency department to
78%. We will reduce to zero the number of people waiting more than 12 hours to be
seen in our Emergency Department. We will maintain our high performance on
supporting people to get home as soon as they are medically fit to do so and have
fewer than 5% of people in our hospitals who are ready to go home.

Priority three: we will reduce long waits for planned care. We will have no one
waiting more than 78 weeks by the end of June 2024. We will have no one waiting
more than 65 weeks by the end of September 2024. We will have no one waiting
more than 52 weeks by the end of March 2025. We will treat 70% of people
diagnosed with cancer within 62 days by the end of March 2025. We will give 77% of
people referred for suspected cancer their diagnosis (or the all-clear) within 28 days
by March 2025.

Harm relating to delays across our urgent and emergency care pathway and our
planned care pathway have been identified as a priority for patient safety
investigation in our patient safety incident response plan. Learning from these
reviews will be shared to influence ongoing improvements.

Deliver what matters most to our people:

Priority one: Our people are vital to achieving our vision of better health and care
for all. We know that when people feel empowered and safe to speak up, able to
make decisions for themselves and are treated with dignity and respect, the better
the outcomes and experience is for the people who use our services. By improving
how it feels to work for us, we can improve the care and experience for everyone.
We will continue our work to build a just learning culture where our people feel
supported and empowered to learn from when things go wrong. We will work with
our freedom to speak up guardian to seek feedback from our people and use data

Page 27 Page 15 of 79



from the NHS staff survey and other feedback mechanisms to understand how we
are doing.

Priority two: We are committed to engaging patients and people who use our adult
social care services and their families in safety reviews and investigations to ensure
that we learn and improve when things go wrong. We will use data from the CQC
patient and service user surveys, friends and family test data and complaints/
compliments and PALS data to help us to understand how we are doing.

Aligning our quality goals with our patient safety priorities we have identified our
patient safety priorities for safety investigation:

e Delays across urgent and emergency care pathways (excellence in
outcomes)

e Delays across planned care pathways (excellence in outcomes)

e Diagnostic pathway errors (seek out and reduce harm)

e Engaging patients and their families in safety reviews and investigations
(deliver what matters most to our people)

e National standards for invasive procedures (NATSSIPs 2) (seek out and
reduce harm)

Page 28 Page 16 of 79



2.3 Statements from our Board

Review and list of services provided by us

We are an integrated care organisation. We continue to work with and be
accountable to:

NHS England

the Care Quality Commission

the Devon Integrated Care Board and system partners
the Local Authorities

the people who use our services

our local communities

our staff, members and governors.

During 2023/24 we provided and/or sub-contracted 52 relevant health services. We
have reviewed all available data relating to quality of care in 52 of these services. A
full list of our services is available on our website.

Our governance is aligned to Tiers, this assists us to anchor our accountabilities,

performance and risk management in a visual, accessible way. We have four primary

governance Tiers:

e Tier 1: The Board of Directors and its Committees (corporate governance
structure and legal structure) and meetings thereof

e Tier 2: Executive Governance (operational governance), led by the Chief
Executive as the most senior Executive within our organisation and meetings
thereof (Executive Committee and Recovery Group). Operating within the
delegated authority of the Chief Executive.

e Tier 3: Trust senior leadership and meetings thereof (Trust Management Group)

e Tier 4: Functional leadership: care groups and professional services and
meetings thereof. Reporting to Tier 3.

e Tier 5: Any group or meeting reporting into Tier 4.

The Tiers operate in oversight and assurance terms, as well as performance
management and oversight; this information flow structure is supported by our
accountability portfolio, which outlines line management and Executive portfolio
accountability.

During the year we restructured our clinicals services to form four care groups and
we continue to embed this structure and to strengthen our governance processes.

These care groups are:

Families and communities which includes adult social care

Medicine and urgent care

Planned care and surgery

Children and Family Health Devon (provided in alliance with Devon Partnership
NHS Trust)

Our governance process ensures our care groups hold their teams to account for
quality, safety and value for money. We operate escalation reporting, whereby the
standard form reports are provided by governance tier to each meeting and
supplemented by any items for escalation from the tier below, or in response to a
request for further review from the tier above.

Page 29 Page 17 of 79


https://www.torbayandsouthdevon.nhs.uk/

Our Executive Committee reviews all information escalated to it as well as its own
standard form reporting, agreeing the matters to be reported to the Board and Board-
Sub-Committees, who in turn have agreed work plans aligned to the Business
Assurance Framework, Risk Map and strategic priorities for the year.

Care Quality Commission (CQC)

We are required to register with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) to provide care
and our current registration is to be able to deliver the following regulated activities:
e assessment or medical treatment for persons detained under the Mental Health
Act 1983

diagnostic and screening procedures

family planning

management of supply of blood and blood derived products

maternity and midwifery services

personal care

surgical procedures

termination of pregnancies

transport services, triage and medical advice provided remotely

treatment of disease, disorder or injury.

We have no conditions or restrictions attached to our registration.

CQC will also be inspecting our adult social care services in 2024 as part of a new
inspection regime, we are working closely with our partners at Torbay Council to
ensure that we are delivering quality social care services.

During the year we had a CQC well led inspection. This process involved four core
service inspections: urgent and emergency care, medical care, outpatient care and
radiology and imaging. The process concluded with our trustwide well-led inspection.
While we have retained our rating as outstanding rating for care, our overall rating
has changed from good to requires improvement.

As a result of the inspection, we received 15 must do actions and implemented a
robust action plan to address these. The action plan is overseen by our CQC quality
assurance group which reports into the Executive Quality Group.

We also underwent a planned maternity inspection as part of the national CQC
programme. While many improvements were noted by the inspectors, our rating for
maternity services remains as requires improvement. In response to the inspection
findings, we have put a robust action plan in place which is overseen by our CQC
quality assurance group.

Page 30 Page 18 of 79



Our current CQC ratings are:

Overall trust quality rating Requires Improvement
Are services safe? Requires Improvement
Are services effective? Requires Improvement
Are services caring? Outstanding 77
Are services responsive? Requires Improvement

Are services well-led? Requires Improvement

Our current full ratings, including the core services ratings from the last inspections,
can be found on the CQC’s website: https://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RA9

Research and innovation

There is strong evidence showing a clear link between being a research active
organisation and improved patient outcomes. Participation in clinical research
demonstrates our commitment to advancing care through research, improving the
quality of care we offer and contributing to wider system benefits and health
improvements. Through active participation in research our clinical staff stay abreast
of the latest possible treatments, we expand the opportunities available to develop
our colleagues and we empower and engage the people we care for. Our mission is
to embed clinical research as part of core business:

Our primary research business involves recruiting into national and international
multi centre commercial and non-commercial studies as part of the National Institute
for Health and Care Research Clinical Research Network (NIHR CRN) portfolio. In
2023/24 we recruited 2,801 participants to 75 NIHR CRN portfolio studies, across
our clinical specialities. Supporting the life sciences sector is a key objective for the
Government. We recruited 351 participants to 17 commercial trials.

We are the best performing trust for NIHR research activity (both for recruitment and
studies recruited into) compared to similar sized organisations across England.
(NIHR benchmarking data for 2023/24).

Our recruitment to time and target (RTT), measures whether a site has reached the
contracted local target on trials and is a key NIHR metric (target 80%). In 2023/24 we
improved on last year, achieving an RTT of 88% for non-commercial and 75% for
commercial NIHR research across the 32 studies which closed within year.

We support academic research training through various schemes in partnership with
higher education institutions, Health Education England, NIHR CRN, and the Torbay
Medical Research Fund (TMRF) including two Predocs, five PhDs, one Postdoc, four
CRN Research Associates and two Chief Nursing Research Fellowships.
Additionally, a further four of our colleagues completed the NIHR Associate Principal
Investigator training programme; gaining invaluable learning and the practical skills
associated with leading clinical research delivery.

Page 31 Page 19 of 79


https://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RA9

In response to England’s Chief Nursing Officer’s nursing research strategy and allied
health professionals national research strategy and following a successful away day
in March 2023, led by our Chief Nurse, we developed a new strategy for nursing,
midwifery and allied health professionals (NMAHPs). This was approved in January
2024 and will be formally launched across our organisation in May 2024.

Other highlights this year include the pivotal role research is playing in how we are

improving cancer care:

¢ nationally we are the second highest recruiting site into commercial cancer trials

e our oncology research has been nominated for an NHS parliamentary award for
excellence in health care

e we were awarded NIHR capital funding worth £817K to support new radiotherapy
equipment

e we recruited the first UK patient into six out of eight new commercial oncology
studies which opened in 2023/24

e we were the only trust in the south west chosen to be a trial site for the
pioneering BioNTech personalised cancer vaccine for the treatment of patients
with colorectal cancer as part of a larger high profile and priority vaccine trials
programme launched by the Government

e we were one of the highest recruiting sites to the national Symplify study. The
results generated a lot of national news coverage, showing the potential of a new
blood test which will hopefully help change the face of early diagnosis in cancer.

Operational performance

As an organisation we remain in National Oversight Framework 4 for performance
and finances along with the other acute providers in Devon and the Devon health
and care system as a whole. We have worked hard to meet the improvement targets
set out by the national and regional NHS England teams and this remains a core
area of focus for us for 2024/25.

We are committed to working together to address the critical and urgent need to
ensure there is consistent and equitable access to safe, high-quality services across
Devon. The COVID-19 pandemic has shone a light on issues of inequity in access,
experience and outcomes which we are working to address both locally and as a
system. The pandemic has also resulted in a significant rise in waiting times across
both urgent and emergency and planned care and we are committed to delivering
sustained improvements across our services to reduce the harm associated with
delays in care.

We have maintained our focus on improving the quality and safety of all our clinical
services. From urgent and emergency care to adult social care, from community
services to planned care, from diagnostics to our laboratories throughout everything
we do we strive to achieve excellence in receiving and providing care.

Throughout the year demand for our emergency, cancer and planned care services
has remained high. In line with our commitment to continuous improvement we
continue to explore new ways of working to seek to manage pressures and delays
access to care following the COVID-19 pandemic. We have strengthened our
partnership working across health and social care services to ensure we are better

Page 32 Page 20 of 79



placed to address risks of delay in access to treatment including the One Devon
Elective pilot.

We have worked in collaboration with our health and care partners in Devon to
improve outcomes and safety by:
e developing a shared control centre for urgent and emergency care to balance
pressure and resources across organisations
e expanding the use of virtual wards to manage patient care remotely so that
more people can stay at home
e continuing the development our frailty and fall services to improve outcomes
and experience for people
e developing a Devon-wide waiting list system that will allow organisations to
see people more equitably across different areas

e continue to promote advice and guidance services associated with patient-
initiated follow-ups.

Our urgent and emergency care performance

We continued to experience significant challenges in facilitating timely access for
people needing urgent and emergency care. We have implemented a range of
improvements that have begun to have a positive impact, including the
substantiation of our Acute Medical Unit, significant sustained improvements in our
time to assessment/triage (under 15 minutes) and sustained 95% four-hour
performance across our urgent treatment centre and minor injuries units. During the
year we were able to reopen Totnes and Dawlish minor injuries units which had been
closed since the start of the pandemic. Both have reopened with bookable
appointments, a new approach which has been working well and has been well
received by people using the service.

VH

ED/UTC/MIU ATTENDANCE ANALYSIS | ARRIVAL TO ASSESSMENT ) Torbay an south Devon

NHS Foundation Trust

Median Time From Arrival To Initial Assessment - Table

Week of Initial Assessment Date Time

1January 2024
8lanuary 2024
15 January 2024
22 January 2024
289 lanuary 2024
S February 2024
12 February 2024
19 February 2024
26 February 2024
AMarch 2024
11 March 2024
18 March 2024
25 March 2024
1 April 2024
8 April 2024
15 April 2024
22 April 2024

S.UU o .U IRIREY

Page 33 Page 21 of 79



190 IS |

ED/UTC/MIU ATTENDANCE ANALYSIS | aHr TaRGET e

4 Hour Performance - Arrival To Admit/Transfer/Discharge

100.00% -2 ~ — —n —
57.74%

Performance

FourHours %

17 Apr23 25 May 23 10ul 23 21Aug 23 20ct 23 13 Nov 23 25Dec23 SFeb24 18 Mar24 29 hpr24

Week of Left Department Date

Our cancer care performance

During 2023/24 we received 22,845 urgent suspected cancer referrals — a 6.6%
increase on the 21,423 received the previous year. This, on average, equates to an
additional 119 referrals each month.

Urgent Suspected Cancer referrals +6.6%

compared to 2022/23

9 55345 -

referrals received additional referrals per month
(average)

Despite this rise in referrals, our cancer teams have delivered improvements in our
national cancer waiting time targets.

0, 0, 0,

78.2% 94.9% 66.5%

Faster Diagnosis Standard 31-day Treatment 62-day Referral to Treatment
(75% target) (96% target) (85% target)

70.9% - 2022/23 96.2% - 2022/23 61.5% - 2022/23

We were one of just 19 trusts nationally to achieve the faster diagnosis standard
consistently over 14 months from February 2023. This means that nearly 80% of our
patients are getting their cancer diagnosis (or the all-clear) within 28 days.

We are also very proud to have achieved our patient tracking list (PTL) backlog
target. This measures the number of people currently waiting over 62 days on a
suspected cancer pathway. As of 31 March 2024, this stood at 83 people against
target of 138.

Page 34 Page 22 of 79



PTL backlog —over 62-days 2022/23: neaked at 2023/24: reduced to

300

200

100

0

RIS G A A | g SN S S S SN S S S S
W ng W e W o O i R wga ?9\!@ N N W o o S oF VL é\’b

The annual national patient experience survey is commissioned and run by NHS
England. It surveys all adult patients with a confirmed primary diagnosis of cancer
who received cancer related treatment in the months of April, May and June 2022.
The results were published in July 2023.

We received 439 responses, which was a 59% response
rate (above the 53% national average)

[ 4
TFa'D

Patients were asked to rate their overall care received
® Torbay and South Devon are ranked 59 nationally, with a
rating of 8.91 /10 (133 Trusts participated)

Based on the demographic data of the organisation, we have been
given an ‘expected range’ for each of the 61 questions

Il We scored above our expected range in 7 questions
We scored below our expected range in no questions

Our focus for the next twelve months is on improving early diagnosis to enable

prompt treatment and better outcomes. We are aiming to:

e open a new non-specific symptom pathway to give an effective referral pathway
for people who do not fit clearly into a single ‘urgent cancer’ referral pathway but
who are nonetheless at risk of being diagnosed with cancer. We plan for this to
be in place by the end of June 2024

e support the delivery of NHS-wide early diagnosis programmes by implementing
targeted lung health checks for our communities. This will proactively screen

Page 35 Page 23 of 79



people using a dedicated mobile CT scanner to detect and diagnose lung
cancers at an earlier stage. We hope to have this up and running by the summer.

e participate in the first phase of the national multi-cancer blood test programme
which uses blood samples to screen for cancer. This is the cutting edge of cancer
innovation and we hope to have this in place by September 2024.

Our planned care performance

We have worked hard to reduce long waiting times for planned outpatients and
operations supported by a significant programme of quality improvements. We know
that long waits for planned procedures or appointments have a significant impact on
people’s health and wellbeing and we are committed to continuing to drive this
improvement further in 2024/25.

Our improvement programmes to address long waits and improve patient experience

and outcomes include:

e offering more video and phone appointments, which frees up valuable clinic time
for those who need face to face appointments

e working with other hospitals to make the best use of capacity across Devon — this
means some people will be offered appointments at other hospitals if they can be
seen sooner there than at Torbay Hospital

e investing in new facilities that will help us make better use of our space, our
equipment and our staff time. We have built a new Acute Medicine Unit with 26
assessment spaces. We increased our endoscopy estate to facilitate greater
capacity and reduce waiting times for diagnostic procedures. We have also
completed the build of two additional theatres to reduce waiting times in both
ophthalmology and our nationally recognised day surgery unit.

In March 2023, a total of 40,180 people were awaiting their first definitive treatment.
However, by 31 March 2024, this number had decreased to 33,161, indicating a
positive trend in reducing waiting times. Among these people, 27,921 are currently
on an outpatient pathway, while 5,240 are awaiting a surgical procedure. Notably, the
number of people waiting for more than 78 weeks has seen a significant
improvement, now standing at less than 55 patients.

Throughout the year, we have upheld exemplary performance in our day surgery
pathway. Nonetheless, we encountered some challenges during the construction
phase of two new theatres, one of which is specifically dedicated to ophthalmology.
These theatres became operational in February 2024, effectively enhancing the
overall capacity of our theatres and facilitating earlier treatment for our population.

During the year we continued utilising the Nightingale Hospital Exeter to
accommodate people who were waiting for orthopaedic and ophthalmology surgery.
Additionally, later in the year, we leveraged the centre for eye excellence in Exeter to
increase diagnostic capacity for patients. These are all part of the One Devon
Elective Pilot. Outpatient care has been consistently delivered through both virtual
and face-to-face settings, with weekend clinics implemented to further improve
waiting times.

Our focus for the next twelve months remains on reducing waiting times, aiming to
achieve three stages of recovery. No one wating more than 78 weeks by 30 June

Page 36 Page 24 of 79



2024, no one waiting more than 65 weeks by 30 September 2024 and no one waiting
more than 52 weeks by 31 March 2025.

Our community services performance
Our community services progressed a range of quality initiatives during the year
some of which included the following:

Lower Limb Therapy Service (LLTS): chronic venous leg ulceration (VLU) affects
around one in 500 people in the UK and for patients over 80. This rises to one in 80
(NHS England). VLU’s are caused by chronic venous insufficiency and are a major
cause of morbidity and health-related inequality, with patients experiencing a
repeated cycle of ulceration, healing, and recurrence. Leg ulcers are painful, restrict
mobility, reduce self-care and can lead to social isolation for sufferers.

LLTS treats on average 340 patients in clinics improving VLU healing rates from 28
weeks to an average of just 12 weeks. A reduction in healing times ensures patients
can return to life pre-ulceration: engage in activities and regain their quality of life.
For us as an organisation, as well as delivering our vision of better health and care
for all, this significantly reduces the financial burden associated with treatment, to
ensure cost effective care is delivered safely and is sustainable for all our patients.

We have achieved these significant positive results for those in our care by
developing a cohesive specialist nursing service delivering evidence based,
standardised, and high-quality treatment. The well leg service and our social
prescriber support each individual to maintain a healed limb, regain levels of activity,
and rebuild self-confidence. Our goals and objectives are aligned with NHS England,
the national wound care strategy programme to improve healing rates, reduce
recurrence rates and the burden of leg ulcer care for all our patients.

Homeless wound care clinic: the homeless wound care clinic was set up at the
Leonard Stocks Hostel in Torquay three years ago. It is a drop-in clinic for hostel
residents, street homeless and vulnerably housed people with or without an
addiction issue. Providing healthcare within this environment encourages people to
engage with health professionals and reduce unnecessary admissions to hospital by
identifying infections, etc, at an early treatable stage. Support is also given when
people are admitted to hospital to better ensure compliance with treatment and
prevent early self-discharges, improving people’s experience and outcomes.

Trusted assessors: the introduction of two trusted assessors has improved people’s
experience and quality relating to discharge to care homes. Our trusted assessors
have built up relationships with care homes in our localities which has resulted in
them feeling confident in the assessments provided. It has developed further in that
care homes are, at times, using our trusted assessors to provide an assessment to
prevent any delays in assessment and acceptance. As a result, confidence in
discharges to care homes has improved and people’s experience has been
enhanced. Given the success achieved, this this has been funded to continue.

Occupational therapy in-reach service: this initiative has allowed people to be

reviewed prior to discharge from hospital to ensure they are on the correct pathway
and will receive the right support on when they leave hospital. The impact has been

Page 37 Page 25 of 79



reduced length of stay, reduced deconditioning and better outcomes and experience
for people leaving hospital.

Children and Family Health Devon: the service continues to strive towards a fully
integrated clinical pathway of mental and physical health care. A major area of focus
has been improving people’s experience of our service, with the development of a
new website, containing extensive information and useful resource for professionals,
young people and families seeking support with health challenges. The referral
process has also been simplified with an easily accessible form on the website.

A Devon County Council supported waiting list pilot project was successful in
reducing the speech and language therapy waits by 69% by reviewing over 1,800
patients and cutting waiting times by 31%. We are now adopting some of these
successful approaches in addressing long waits across the county.

The roll-out of the all-age first response service (now incorporating crisis response to
children and young people out of hours) was consolidated and has been successful
in establishing a platform for the exploration of an all age 111 mental health option for
people with a mental health crisis need.

Our mental health support in school team were innovative in conjunction with BfB
lab, in using therapeutic digital interventions- Lumi Nova (NICE guidelines) for
primary age students. This was nominated as a finalist in the National Academic
Health Science Network innovate awards, in the ‘innovation helping address health
inequalities’ category. The assertive outreach team continue to ensure children and
young people at risk of admission are looked after at home as much as possible,
maintaining the lowest admission rate in the southwest region.

We have been successful in achieving a number of our quality priorities for the year,
namely the appointment of a dedicated governance and quality lead, development of
a learning from experience process, implementing a strong quality governance
process and increasing our research activities. We have actively embraced
participation by embedding young people and parents into many of our processes
and creating participation champions role. Our newly created expert by experience
group is co-chaired by a parent.

Our adults social care performance

Our adult social care improvement and transformation plan launched with a
discovery phase into how we work to meet the needs of our communities. This gave
us significant insights and opportunities for our joint and integrated partnership
between the local authority and the NHS.

We continue to focus our efforts on high-impact areas, strengthening the community
front-door and maximise the effectiveness of our reablement offers through our
transformation efforts. We have worked to improve our offer to working age adults
which became a key piece of work resulting in The Big Plan for people with learning
disabilities.

Page 38 Page 26 of 79


https://www.torbay.gov.uk/council/policies/asc-policies/the-big-plan/

A key area for development in our adult social care improvement plan has been our
need to improvement contract and market management. For adult social care
services in Torbay, effective contract management is paramount to mitigating risks,
optimising relationships with care providers and ensuring compliance with regulatory
requirements — good contract management supports safe care for our community.

The approach to adult social care in Torbay means we focus on ensuring we
optimise the use of available resources and always take a strengths-based approach
to adult social care assessments. Over the course of 2023/24 we committed to
deliver £2.7M (in year) of savings through improvements and we delivered 103% of
the target and while doing so ensured that our approach was strength-based and
outcome focused.

Core indicators
In addition to reporting performance against the statutory indicators for regularly
assessment a range of further quality indicators are reported to our Board of
Directors.
Other national and Quality Target2 [2023/24 [2022/23
local indicators indicator 023/24
Did Not Attend (DNA) Effectiveness | 5%
rate
Stroke care: 90% of Effectiveness | 80%
time spent on stroke
ward
Two-hour urgent Effectiveness | 70%
community
response
Mixed sex Experience 0
accommodation
breaches of
standard
52-week referral to Experience
treatment 0
incomplete pathways
year end position
Cancelled operations on| Experience <0.8%
the day of surgery
Never events Safety 0
Cancer 28-day Faster Effectiveness | 75%
Diagnosis
Diagnostic waits Effectiveness | 15%
greater than six weeks
Fractured neck of femur | Effectiveness | 90%

time to theatre
* March 2024 position

2021/22 ] 2020/21] 2019/20 |

Page 39 Page 27 of 79



Performance plans for 2024/25

We have submitted performance plans that meet the requirements of the Operating
Framework for 2024/25. These plans are reliant on securing clinical capacity to meet
the predicted demand across elective and emergency care.

The funding required to achieve this includes use of the Elective Services Recovery
Funding (ESRF) and additional income gained from activity levels delivered above
103% of our 2019/20 baseline.

In 2024/25 we will benefit from increased theatre capacity (additional day case
theatres completed in February 2023), new rooms for endoscopy (completed in
November 2023) and the Community Diagnostics Centre which is due to open in
Autumn 2024.

The key operational performance targets are:

o referral for treatment waiting times with no one waiting over 65 weeks by
September 2024 and 52-week waits by March 2025

e reduce patient delays in the urgent and emergency care setting to achieve 78%
of people seen within four hours

e improve diagnostic waits so 95% of people wait less than six weeks by March
2025

e meet the cancer standards for faster diagnosis (28 days) 77% and treatment
within 62 days from urgent referral 70%.

SUS and DQIPS

We submitted records during 2023/24 to the secondary uses service (SUS) for
inclusion in the hospital episode statistics (HES) which are included in the latest
published data.

The percentage of records in the published data which included the patient’s valid
NHS number for inpatients is shown in the chart below:

Page 40 Page 28 of 79



Data ltem Provider Provider Provider | Provider ICB* % Region* National

R Total Missing Invalid % Valid ~ Valid % Valid % Valid
Admin Category (On Admiss) 98,296 QLORETS 998% 99.9% 99.9%
Admin Method (Hosp Prov Spell) 98,296 LR 100.0% 100.0% @ 100.0%
Commissioner 98,296 EIAAN 995% 998% 99.4%
Consultant 98,296 QOGS 48.0% 833% 96.7%
Disch Ready Date (Hosp Prov Spell) 81,499 81,499 0.0% QR 11.8%  19.3%
Discharge Dest (Hosp Prov Spell) 81,499 vxebe 100.0% 100.0% @ 100.0%
Discharge Meth (Hosp Prov Spell) 81,499 LR’ 100.0% 100.0% @ 100.0%
Ethnic Category 98,296 ELALN 956% 92.9% 94.9%
Main Specialty 98,296 QOREEY 100.0%  99.8% 99.8%
NHS No Status Indicator 98,296 QLRGN 99.7% 98.4%  99.7%
NHS Number 98,296 15 ceRL) 997% 998% 99.7%
Org of Residence 98,296 CeRL) 99.8% 99.0% 96.4%
Patient Classification 98,296 VKL 100.0% 100.0% @ 100.0%
Patient Pathway 26,298 85 CENLN 955% 66.8% 70.1%
Person Birth Date 98,296 LORGER 100.0% 100.0%  99.8%
Person Gender 98,296 LN ry 100.0% 100.0% @ 100.0%
Postcode 98,296 99.9% 99.9%  99.9%
Primary Diagnosis 98,132 1,488 89.3% 93.5% 95.5%
Primary Procedure 98,132 99.9% 99.9% 99.9%
Registered GP Practice 98,296 99.3% 98.9%  99.7%
Site Code of Treatment 98,296 948% 98.1% 96.9%
Treatment Function 98.296 0 100.0% 99.9% 99.8%
Overall 2,039,795 83,240 93.4% 94.2% 95.3%
p. S
' 2
Data Item Provider Provider Provider  Provider ICB* % Region* National
. Total Missing Invalid % Valid Valid @ % Valid % Valid
Admin Category 444 104 100.0% KA 85.1% o7 9%
Attendance Indicator 444 104 OONEN 100.0% 98.8%  99.6%
Attendance Outcome 422,267 OONG 99.9% 85.1% 95.6%
Commissioner 444,104 RPN 99.5% 99.8%  98.9%
Consultant 444,104 2 OO 40.2% 69.6% 86.6%
Ethnic Category 444 104 CERSN 95.2% 82.7% 91.2%
First Attendance 444,104 OO 100.0% 99.4%  99.8%
Main Specialty 444,104 2,599 LA 99.7% 98.0%  99.0%
NHS No Status Indicator 444,104 OO 99.8% 99.8%  99.9%
NHS Number 444 104 142 OONEZ 99.8% 99.9%  99.7%
Org of Residence 444,104 CCRM 99.9% 98.7%  95.4%
Patient Pathway 436,168 2,671 e 75.5% 66.2% 66.8%
Person Birth Date 444,104 PN 100.0% 100.0%  99.7%
Person Gender 444 104 L[OXob7) 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Postcode 444,104 99.9% 99.9% 99.9%
Primary Procedure 422,267 CCRPN 999% 99.6% 99.5%
Priority Type 444 104 VN 768% 81.2% 93.1%
Referral Received Date 444104 153,584 SR 71.2% 80.9% 94.0%
Referral Source 444 104 M7 76.8% 83.4% 96.3%
Registered GP Practice 444 104 A 99.5% 99.7%  99.5%
Site Code of Treatment 444 104 OO 96.1% 91.1% 96.1%
Treatment Function 444,104 LX) 100.0% 98.1%  99.0%
Overall 9,718,678 159,021 27,426 981% 91.8% 91.7% 95.8% )
A

The percentage of records in the published data which included the patient’s valid
general medical practice code was:

e for admitted patient care — 98.7%

e for outpatient care — 98.4%

Page 41 Page 29 of 79




The data security and protection toolkit is an online self-assessment tool that allows
organisations to measure their performance against the national data guardian’s ten
data security standards. All standards were met in 2023/24.

Clinical audit

The reports of 30 national clinical audits were reviewed by us between 01 April 2023
and 31 March 2024. See Annex 5 for the actions we intend to take to improve the
quality of healthcare provided.

The reports of 24 local clinical audits were reviewed by us between 01 April 2023
and 31 March 2024. See Annex 5 for the actions we intend to take to improve the
quality of healthcare provided.

Clinical coding performance

We have not been in receipt of a payment by results clinical coding audit by the Audit
Commission. Instead, an annual data security protection toolkit audit of clinical
coding has been completed. The audit was completed by an NHS Digital approved
auditor.

Data security and protection toolkit (DSPT) audit results are:

Primary Secondary Primary Procedure (% Secondary Procedure
Diagnosis (% Diagnosis (% correct) (% correct)

correct) correct)

97.09 91.68 94.08 93.01

Page 42 Page 30 of 79



Part 3: Our quality indicators

Patient safety

During 2023/4 year we made progress against our patient safety strategy in the

following areas:

e transitioned from the serious incident framework (SIF) to the patient safety
incident response framework (PSIRF) in February 2024. Our patient safety
incident response plan is available on our intranet and externally for members of
the public to review

e transferred to the new Risk Management System (RMS) Datix Cloud 1Q which
enabled us to report safety events and examples of good practice nationally to
the national Learning from Patient Safety Event (LfPSE) system

e continued to focus on our ambition to roll out and embed a just learning culture,
this work will continue to be prioritised in the coming year supported by our
peoples and patient safety teams

e recruited two volunteer patient safety partners to support us to ensure that the
voices of patients are central to patient safety reviews and investigations

e reviewed our governance structure to ensure clearer channels of communication
and oversight regarding patient safety and quality improvement

e sought feedback from people who use our services to recognise and reward our
people through the continued roll out the Daisy and Primrose awards and
introduced our Allied Health Professionals, SAS doctor and junior doctor awards

e continued to champion the use of quality boards as a visual tool which displays
our progress against quality improvement priorities in clinical areas to provide
both focus and a way to recognise achievement.

e supported all our staff to complete the national patient safety syllabus training at
level one via our central learning system (HIVE) to further embed our safety
culture. Our Board and leadership team are working towards completion of the
essentials for patient safety training for boards and senior leadership teams.

Learning from National Reports

Following the findings of the Fuller enquiry which identified failings within an NHS
organisation we have caried out a gap analysis to identify any areas where we may
have risks. Following this we created and implemented an action plan and have
completed all of the actions on that plan which include installation of additional CCTV
as well as tightening security access for staff members and reviewing access on a
weekly basis via audit. These actions are embedded to protect the safety and dignity
of our patients. Our viewing room has been refurbished to ensure a more improved
environment for relatives to view their loved ones in.

We have responded to the Thirlwall enquiry and request for evidence, this request
was sent to every hospital with a neonatal unit. Our chief medical officer submitted
our response to the enquiry.

We have responded to two direct requests from infected blood enquiry.
Our patient safety ambitions for 2024/25
We will continue our work embed the national patient safety strategy into policy

and practice. We will continue our work to ensure a positive safety culture, central
to this work will be the just learning culture workstream which will be led by the

Page 43 Page 31 of 79



people directorate team and supported by our patient safety leads.

We will prioritise the National Safety Standards for Invasive Procedures
(NatSSIPs) 2 which was released in 2023. These national standards cover all
invasive procedures including those performed outside of the operating
department. This approach aligns with the aims of the Patient Safety Strategy
(2019) and the Patient Safety Incident Response Framework (PSIRF, 2022). We
will establish a task and finish group to lead the introduction of NatSSIPs 2 and
develop both the detailed workplan and measurable outcomes for this quality
priority. This work will be overseen by the Patient Safety Group.

We will:

e continue to embed our transition to PSIRF with a focus on systemic and human
factors to capture impactful learning

e recognise that meaningful learning and improvement following a patient safety
incident can only be achieved if supportive systems and processes are in place.
We are committed to rolling out our just learning culture programme which will be
supported by compassionate leadership training for our colleagues

e strengthen our commitment to ensure that we prioritise compassionate
engagement, involvement and support for those affected by patient safety
incidents (both patients and staff) throughout any patient safety review or
investigation

e continue to provide training to all colleagues on patient safety to support our
safety culture

e continue to develop our expert patient safety incident investigators to conduct
patient safety incident investigations (PSIl). We will ongoingly review this
resource to ensure we have the appropriate level of safety investor resource in
line with PSIRF guidance

e encourage staff to capture examples of good care and to share via our safety and
quality systems

e share learning from safety reviews, investigations and examples of good practice
to promote learning and a positive patient safety culture

e ensure that feedback from patient complaints is captured as valuable insight to
inform a proactive safety culture and our patient safety incident response plan

e participate in the national programme to implement Martha’s Rule to ensure
patients, families and colleagues 24/7 access to a rapid review from a critical
care outreach team, who they can contact should they have concerns about a
patient.

e Engage with our information team to support our electronic patient record project
(EPR) to ensure that patient safety is central to decision making.

e We will continue to remain responsive to any national reports, guidance or

enquiry.

Freedom To Speak Up (FTSU)

One of the recommendations made by Sir Robert Francis in the Mid Staffordshire
NHS Foundation Trust Public Enquiry, was for every NHS trust to appoint a Freedom
to Speak Up Guardian (FTSUG). During 2020 we appointed a dedicated FTSUG.
The appointment of the dedicated guardian has resulted in a consistent service
being provided to any member of staff who speaks up.

Page 44 Page 32 of 79



Guardians act in a genuinely independent and impartial capacity to support staff who
raise any concerns. The FTSUG, reports directly to the Executive Lead for Speaking
Up and has regular access to the Chief Executive, Chair and Lead Governor as

required. The FTSUG reports directly to the Board of Directors formally twice a year.

The guardian also works alongside the senior leadership team, employee relations
team and local Trade Unions to support the organisation in becoming a more open
and transparent place to work, where all staff are actively encouraged to speak up.
The FTSUG completes and submits regular data reports to the National Freedom to
Speak Up Guardians Office on a quarterly basis.

We have one full time Freedom to Speak Up Guardian, which is consistent with other
organisations in the region. There has been an increase in the number of concerns
being raised, with further support for the role being considered by the board. There is
a process for confidentially logging cases and conversation had with the Freedom to
Speak up Guardian and staff can also anonymously speak up through an electronic
communication platform. The FTSU Guardian reports to the Board every six months
with numbers of cases and themes. Between May 2023 and November 2023 there
has been 82 cases, 35 of which related to bullying and harassment, 17 failure to
follow process, four patient safety, six staff safety, 16 culture of organisation, three
diversity and inclusion and one fraud.

Themes from the conversations colleagues have had with the Freedom to Speak Up
Guardian included:

e poor professional behaviours

e breakdown in working relationships

e bullying and harassment including sexual harassment.

A regular theme was managers lacking interest or capacity in trying to find an early
resolution and ignoring the problem rather than addressing it. There were pockets of
racism and discrimination reported which were not always well managed with no
solution or learning. Lack of resolution often led to formal complaints and grievances
which were not always followed or completed in a timely way.

Failure to follow processes related to recruitment, culture of the organisation related
to having a lack of flexibility and wellbeing support in place for teams. Patient safety
concerns related to inconsistences in investigating patient deaths and competency of
some international staff. Diversity and inclusion concerns related to lack of support
for reasonable adjustments in the workplace and support for flexible working.

Many colleagues speak to the Guardian in confidence to help make sense of what
they are feeling and experiencing, or to share anxieties in their working lives that is
impacting on them being able to do the best they can in their work.

The Freedom to Speak Up role must be proactive in raising awareness but reactive
to colleagues coming forward to speak up. Greater visibility within all sites and major
departments is needed to share information about the service and how the Guardian
can be accessed. If additional resource is identified in 2024/2025 then this work
together with an enhanced speaking up procedure and signposting for support in

Page 45 Page 33 of 79



speaking up and how managers respond will help to make speaking up business as
usual. Our ambition is to continue to support staff to speak up and we will continue to
promote the freedom to speak up guardian role to support this important agenda.

Patient experience

The number of complaints received since 01 April 2023 to date stands at 140; this is
lower than the same period last year by 29 complaints which equates a 17%
decrease. The numbers received are consistently below the lower control limit (13)
with an average of 11 a month. This has remained so since the beginning of the
2023/24 financial year. For the month of March 24, nine complaints were received.

Concerns received in March 2024 decreased by 23% compared to February 2024,
from 147 in February to 113 in March. However, quarter four has seen an overall
increase in concerns received compared to quarter three.

We achieved 66% compliance with three-day acknowledgment on receipt of
complaints in March 2024 (an increase on February which was the first month it
dropped below 100% to 45%). We achieved 88% compliance [average] with three-
day acknowledgement on receipt of complaints in the financial year 2023/24.

The largest number of reported complaints and concerns this year relate to the
surgical division. The themes identified relate to longest waits, treatment delays and
timeliness of appointments with the top three themes being:

e communication

o effectiveness

e attitude of staff.

In response to these themes, we have:

e continued to monitor performance and we planned reductions for time to surgery
is to be less than 62 weeks by spring 2024

e increased theatre activity by outsourcing some planned care using external NHS
approved external contracted providers to support reducing waiting times, for
example (Endoscopy Mobile unit on the Annex site, service delivered by external
company, OPD clinics in some specialties using external companies to run
additional clinics. We have also invested in new builds to improve capacity
(Endoscopy/Day Surgery)

e written patients where there are long waits to offer support and to signpost should
the condition deteriorate.

e supported staff to attend our compassionate leadership training to further support
staff engagement and improve communication with patients and families, for
example when managing conversations regarding long waits.

Our Associate Directors of Nursing and Professional Practice (ADNPPs) have been
working hard with their teams regarding closing of complaints and this is reflected in
the last 12 months where seven months have seen greater numbers closed than
received.

By 31 March 2024 there were 60 complaints that remained active/ongoing. The
largest proportion of these are with Surgery, Urgent and Emergency and Medicine.

Page 46 Page 34 of 79



This is reflected of the areas who receive the most complaints which are related to
waits in Emergency Department, time to surgery and access to outpatients.

Patient and community engagement

Our communications and engagement team works in partnership with the feedback
and engagement team and the membership office to ensure that there are sufficient
and robust mechanisms in place to inform the public about, and involve them in, our
work.

Together we are committed to ensuring that patients, carers, staff and the public are
listened to and have the opportunity to feedback on their experiences while also
raising concerns and asking questions about any of our current and future activities.
We work closely with our partners in the Integrated Care System for Devon (ICSD)
and any formal consultation is led by the ICSD with our support and involvement as
appropriate.

Our engagement and communications strategy aims to support meaningful
conversations with our people and communities while our patient and service user
experience of healthcare strategy helps us to hear and learn better from patient and
carer experience.

This year we have established our Teignmouth community stakeholder engagement
group to agree how we involve Teignmouth communities in any plan around the
future of the community hospital site, began the process to pilot a Youth Forum and
Parent and Carers Forum (launching in April 2024), undertook engagement with
children, young people and families on new branding and a new website for Children
and Family Health Devon and worked in partnership with Torbay Council on user
engagement to review the adult social care webpages and information.

We have also undertaken engagement with families receiving care in paediatric
settings to find out about their experiences of accessing urgent care for their child as
part of the work of the Peninsula Acute Provider Collaborative and supported
engagement undertaken by Healthwatch to facilitate a series of focus groups to
enable us to find out about people’s experiences of acute medical services.

In May, we supported the NHS Assembly's NHS@75 conversations with our people
— across the country more than 700 conversations took place not only in health
organisations but with patient groups, charities and partners in health and social
care. Here in Torbay and South Devon we held a number of focus groups with
colleagues from different professions and services and asked seven questions about
the NHS' past, present and future. Ahead of the NHS' 75th birthday, the NHS
Assembly published an independent report based on the conversations and the
findings.

We have undertaken an accessibility audit on our website and we have made
improvements to ensure compliance with the government’s web contact accessibility
guidelines (WCAG 2.1).

A number of settings exist that allow the Board of Directors, Executive Directors and
staff at all levels to communicate with key stakeholders, including formal Board to

Page 47 Page 35 of 79



Board and Executive to Executive meetings with local commissioners, local health
and care providers, Health and Wellbeing Boards, Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committees with our local authorities and regular meetings with local MPs and
Healthwatch. We also have a growing number of patient and public engagement
groups across our services which support us to listen to and learn from our people
and communities, including our friends of Torbay and South Devon group (for our
eight League of Friends and Torbay Hospital Nurses League), our coastal
engagement group and the experts by experience group in Children and Family
Health Devon.

These forums, supported by our other communications, engagement and feedback
channels, provide a mechanism for any risks identified by stakeholders that affect us
to be discussed for any action plans to be developed.

Early in 2024/25 we will launch our pilot Youth Forum for young people aged 13-20
with experience of using our acute paediatric inpatient and outpatient services and
our paediatric emergency department. This pilot is being delivered in partnership
with Young Devon. A similar pilot is due to launch for a Parent and Carer Forum for
family members and guardians or carers of children and young people who use the
above services. This pilot is being delivered in partnership with Parental Minds. Both
aim to help us hear the voices and experiences of children, young people and their
families better and work together to improve our services and their experience.

Clinical effectiveness

Over 2023/24 we have been working hard on a redesign of our mortality processes.
This will ensure consistent and robust management of our mortality cases and
embed these processes across our organisation and ensures that we are learning
from any deaths that occur during our care. The new processes will link mortality
cases from review by the Medical Examiners, through clinically led structured
judgement reviews to more formal investigations and mortality and morbidity
processes. This process will be held and monitored centrally by the patient safety
team.

Mortality is reviewed each month by a multi-disciplinary team at our mortality
surveillance group. A mortality scorecard is also presented to the Board of Directors
bimonthly by the Chief Medical Officer.

We use analysis by Telstra (Dr Foster) to process hospital episode statistics (HES)
data directly from NHS Digital to inform the monthly mortality review. The Hospital
Standardised Mortality ratio (HSMR) is measured from the mortality arising from a
standardised ‘basket’ of 56 diagnoses and includes all inpatient admissions for a
rolling 12-month period and is benchmarked against other providers both nationally
and locally.

The current HSMR is 95.2 (89.6-101) - this is within the statistically expected range
of mortality compared to hospital trusts nationally. Our current SHMI (Summary
Hospital Level Mortality Indicator) is similarly within the expected range at 100.4
when compared to other trusts nationally.

Page 48 Page 36 of 79



Historically we were flagging as having an excess of deaths on our HSMR from July
2021 until February 2023. During 2023 we have undertaken a programme of work to
understand the pattern of excess deaths which encompassed a review of coding,
comorbidity and a robust review and analysis of clinical alerts, process and areas of
increased mortality. It has been previously noted that we serve a population with an
older demographic, high levels of comorbidity and high levels of social deprivation.
All of these factors can impact on mortality statistics and it is vital that we continue to
ensure that these are accurately captured going forward.

We are now demonstrating steady improvement with the HSMR below the
benchmark for the last five data period as seen in the chart below.

Diagnoses - HSMR | Mortality (in-hospital) | Dec-20 to Nov-23 | Trend (rolling 12 months)

Relative Risk
—_—

» —
—
—
——

— "
————

' + ’
—_— —

— + —

—

ja— . —

4‘—.
— i
— + —
—
— 4+ —
——
—
4‘;

4

=
C—

—

In 2022 our patient safety team investigated 30-day mortality in patients admitted as
an emergency comparing October 2019 figures with those in October 2022. Elderly
and frail emergency patients appeared particularly sensitive to the adverse effects of
waiting for a definitive in-patient bed. This work was repeated in October 2023 and
showed a reduction in the mortality of emergency patients facing long waits for a
hospital bed when compared to the previous year. This reduction is likely the result
of work to improve admission alternatives, ongoing work on virtual wards and
support for patients in the community and also initiatives to ensure that waits for
elderly and frail patients for a hospital bed are, wherever possible, minimised. Our
non-elective HSMR also demonstrates this improvement.

\ [
ul[w

Coding for palliative care deaths for 2023/24 was 5.85%. This is an increase on
previous years.

Page 49 Page 37 of 79



Trend (Financial Year) - Non-elective spells = Palliative care - Rate - National Rate - Peer Group Rate

202072021 10,317 352 3.80% 5.03% 451%
202172022 15,830 760 4.80% 4.92% 4.66%
202212023 16,331 946 5.79% 5.07% 483%
202372024 13,520 791 5.85% 4.96% 4.62%

While these statistics demonstrate an improvement, it is acknowledged that there is
still room for improvement particularly in the elderly and frail sub-group of patients.

The Medical Examiner (ME) service

Medical Examiners continue to provide scrutiny of inpatient deaths in the acute and

community hospitals. If any concerns are raised or potential leaning is identified the

Medical Examiners refer this to us by raising an incident which is investigated in line
with our policy.

Number of Number of Number of Number of HMC Number of
acute and deaths deaths investigations / | incidents
community reviewed by referred to inquest raised for
hospital Medical HMC review
deaths Examiners

1,413 1,395 240 132 32

The learning disabilities mortality review (LeDeR) programme requires an
independent case review following the deaths of people with learning disabilities. All
deaths involving patients with a learning disability are reviewed through the LeDeR
process. In 2023 created a new LeDeR process which established closer interaction
monthly with the regional LeDeR team. In addition, due to the complex nature of
LeDeR reviews take time to complete, we introduced Structured Judgement Reviews
(SJR) for all patients with Learning Disabilities and / or autism who died in hospital to
ascertain any learning at the earliest point possible.

Summary of LeDer referrals 2023/24

Location Number of Structured LeDeR Reviews Awaiting

of death deaths judgement undertaken — LeDeR review
meeting review (SJR) | closed with outcomes
LeDeR undertaken outcomes and
criteria learning

provided
Community |2 0 1 1
Hospital 14 13 0 14

The LeDeR review resulting in an outcome identified no lapses in care or learning.

Page 50 Page 38 of 79



The SJR’s indicated 11 cases had no evidence of avoidability and two cases with
slight evidence of avoidability. There were related to complex discharge planning and
delay in receiving medication.

All 13 cases were recorded as receiving either adequate, good or excellent care with
good family / carer involvement, speciality input from the Learning Disability Team
and appropriate escalation of treatments and the involvement of palliative care.

National standards
This performance overview provides information about how we have performed
against agreed operational planning objectives during the year.

We continue to work to recover from the pandemic and have seen a sustained
improvement in planned care waiting times for our longest wait patients. Across
urgent and emergency care performance, patient flow and bed capacity remained
the main operational challenge and frequently having our emergency department
and assessment units at full capacity. The four-hour standard and ambulance
handover delays did not meet planned levels of performance.

Along with other providers in Devon, we continue to comply with NHS England Tier 1
performance reporting for planned and urgent and emergency care. Tier 1 being the
highest level of regulatory performance oversight. We are no longer in Tier 1 for
cancer care.

The key performance indicators for 2023/24 are shown below:

Target

™ ™ m m = Operational
March s E o o = Flan trajectory
2024 = = o = = March 2024

MATIONAL OVERSIGHT FRAMEWORK EXIT CRITERLA
Urgent and Emergency Care
Ambulance handovers -time lost over 15 mins - Actual [hours) 0 796 1569 2579 2141 36ET 1110
Percentage of Ambulance handovers greater than 2 hours 2.7% 7.5% 14.7% | 12.5% | 20.0% Reduction
Total average time in ED [hours/minutes) 05:57 06:20 | O5:45 | 05:44 | 06:33 Reduction
ED attendances where visit time over 12 hours o] 562 797 e26 822 24949 Reduction
UEC 4-hour target (RAG against local trajectory to national target) 7E% 61.7% | B4.6% | 6B.49% | 6B.0% | 65.7% Ta%
%% patient discharges pre-noon 33% 18.9% 19.9% | 21.5% ( 23.7% | 24.0% 335
Percentage of inpatients with Mo Criteria to Reside [acute) =55 T.6% T.0% T.45% 6.4% 4 B% 5.0%
Elective recovery
RTT 104 week wait incomplete pathway (4] (4] (8] (8] (8] (8] [+]
RTT 78 week wait incomplete pathway (1] 166 123 187 165 52
RTT 65 week wait incomplete pathway (4] 1244 1196 1161 240 470
RTT 52 week wait incomplete pathway Reduction 4024 3538 3471 2258 1817 Reduction
Patient waits over 2.5 years (4] (4] (8] (8] (8] (8] [+]
75% of GP referred patients diagnosed within 28 days 75% F5.0% | 78.1% | 77.8% | 77.0% | 78.4% T5%
Mumber of patients waiting longer than 62 days for treatment 128 107 100 105 158 a3 128

202324 RAG indicator
Meeting monthly trajectory
Mot meeting monthly trajectony

Page 51 Page 39 of 79



Four-hour emergency department (ED) waiting times
A&E and MIU patients seen within 4 hours

100.0%
______________________________________ -
50.0% -
~
80.0% ~
70.0% _ . D I
60.0% | E— - | ] —
s0.0% — — — — — — — — —
00— — — — — — — —
30.0%
Mar-23 Apr-23 May-22 Jun-23 Juk-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Mow-23 Dec-23 Jan24 Feb-24 Mar-24
% seen within 4 hours Em OF Flan trajectory 23,24 — =— Maticnal target

Performance against the four-hour standard in our ED in 2023/24 has continued to
reflect the challenges of capacity and managing daily patient flow. Long waits have
continued to be experienced and ambulance handover delays have also been high
due to the department, at times, reaching capacity.

Community Urgent Care - Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) and Minor Injuries Unit
(MIU) performance remains consistently above 99%.

Improving patient flow through our organisation is key to support ED waiting times
and capacity. Effective discharge remains crucial in facilitating the timely return home
or transfer to another care facility for our patients. We are meeting the target to have
less than 5% of people in hospital with No Criteria to Reside. This is a significant
achievement and reflects the work across the community to expedite the necessary
step-down placements and packages of care to enable people to be discharged
when no longer requiring the levels of care provided within the hospital setting.

Work continues to improve performance across the following areas to maintain

patient flow:

e ensuring people with No Criteria to Reside are identified and discharge pathway

in progress

supporting people to get home from hospital before 12noon — Home for Lunch

extending the Discharge Lounge hours

utilising the Urgent Community Response resource to avoid admission

the introduction of virtual ward pathways of care to support people to stay at

home where we can safely do so, facilitate earlier discharge from hospital, and

reduce admissions to ensure beds are available for those most in need on

hospital care

e increase the number of Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC) discharges through
the Acute Medical Unit and use of SDEC pathways

e streaming people to alternatives to our ED, for example, our Urgent Treatment
Centre, Minor Injury Unit, pharmacies and self-care

e care co-ordination hub.

Ambulance handovers

Ambulance handover delays continue to be a challenge and the number of hours lost
has increased over the year. Plans are in place as part of the wider ED performance
recovery plan to facilitate increased handover capacity.

Page 52 Page 40 of 79



The plan for 2024/25 is to continue to build on the improvements around patient flow
and length of stay to release bed capacity and improve flow from our ED and

assessment unity that will reduce ambulance delays.

Percent of ambulance handovers over 15 minutes

Jun-23 | Jul-23

Mar-23 | Apr-23 | May-23

Dec-23 | Jan-24

Feb-24 | Mar-24

Performance 70% B80% T7% 78% 78% 84% 82% B88% 67% 55% 74% 55% 72%
0 0 1] 0 0 1] 0 0 1] 0 0 0
100%
80%
60%
40%
20%
0% T T T T T T T T T T T T
Mar-23  Apr-23  May-23 Jun-23  Jul-23  Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nowv-23 Dec-23 Jan-24 Feb-24 Mar-24
Performance

Referral to Treatment (RTT) access times

The number of people waiting for treatment decreased during the year with 33,483
patients waiting at the end of March 2024 for first definitive treatment, down from

40,060 in March 2023. We have no patients waiting over 104 weeks. We have not
met the planned trajectory for people waiting 78 weeks and 65 weeks due to
industrial action, however, the number of people waiting has continued to reduce.

The day surgery unit is a national exemplar for day case surgery completion rates
and productivity. The additional eye theatre and day surgery unit theatre opened in
February and will allow us to increase day case surgery capacity that, along with

additional staffing, will see a continued reduction in waiting times.

Apl-23 May-23 fur-3 Jul-23 Aap-Td Sep-23 Der-23 Hegwedd Deg23 Jan-24 Feb-22 Mar-24
5wk Flanning Trajectony 1292 1351 1312 1507 1357 L1189 s} T3 E50 397 199 o
Manth End Asuals 1220 1163 1156 1136 1080 LIEL 1019 1 840 767 575 70
Emﬂmn&mmnhg“nm LE] 166 IR A9

B5wk Trajectory

2600
1450 a
1300 —
5000
=
00
g
0o
L
apk2 M2 ey (T Lup Y STy o tia-11 =21 e LT ML

w— i h B Akl st ek Flanning S acbony

Api-13 May23 Jun-13 Jul-23 Aug-I3 Sep-13 Oexe13 Hee13 Dec-23 Jan-24 Feb-14 Mar-24
*Tguk Planning Trajedary 173 ] 130 130 130 FiH 2 73 65 35 19 [
Mantk End Amtunis 165 156 123 129 135 187 151 176 165 138 115 58
Em-‘hﬂﬂhéimﬁﬂ 153 1 [
TEwk Trajectory

b
1]
0
140
10
]

=

&

20

]

]

iph23 My} - k- Sap-23 o3 -2 Duc:2 24 b4 w2

A28

— i F ] Ay i 3 7k Planning Wajactory

Page 53

Page 41 of 79



The operational plan for 2024/25 is to have no one waiting over 65 weeks for

treatment by September 2024. These plans are supported by:

e delivering planned care productivity improvements across general theatres and
outpatients

e utilising insourcing and outsourcing services to increase capacity in areas with
greatest challenge

e opening of the community diagnostic centre to increase diagnostic capacity and
reduce waiting times.

Cancer standards

We maintained our commitment to prioritise delivery of cancer treatments through
periods of operational pressures and industrial action. In 2023/24 we met the cancer
National Outcome Framework (NOF) exit criteria so is no longer required to be in the
Tier 1 performance monitoring by NHS England.

March 2024 was the 14th consecutive month of achievement of the 28-day Faster
Diagnosis Standard. This highlights our continued commitment to provide swift
diagnosis for patients referred for suspected cancer and remains the focus of our
efforts.

Number of people waiting longer than 62-days for cancer treatment:
Monthly Forecast 62+

Page 54 Page 42 of 79



GP referrals diagnosed within 28 days
100.0%

80.0%

60.0%
40.0%
20.0%
0.0%
o~
o~
6o
3
<

Sep-22 I
Oct-22 I
Nov-22 —
Dec-22 I
Jan-23 I

m M M M M M mMm 0NN M M M < <& <
B RS L R L R Y
0O = = > Cc = W o+ > v c o 9=
T O © = o 7] ©
fs<<23°>328023838¢&s
I Performance ——Trajectory (Operational Plan 2023/24)

Equality of service delivery

We maintain our approach to equality of service delivery by adhering to strict
chronological booking processes in accordance with clinical prioritisation. We have a
process of contacting people by telephone, as well as letter, to agree appointment
dates and follow-up appointments when initial contact with people is unsuccessful. A
rolling programme of clinical review and validation of longest waits is in place to

identify and act as a safety net should a person’s condition change or they fail to
engage with offered appointments.

The Devon system is working together to ensure equitable waits are achieved and is
supporting mutual aid across providers and access to the Nightingale Hospital
Exeter as a system resource to support additional capacity for diagnostics,
orthopaedic and ophthalmology treatments.

Complex pathway discharges
Pathways one to three are considered ‘complex’ as patients require support to

enable a safe discharge. The total number of people discharged through pathways
one to three has remained fairly consistent throughout most of the year.

Page 55 Page 43 of 79



What pathway is your patient on?

Pathway 0 - No additional support

¢ Fully independent - no additional support required
® OR restart of existing services

Patient returns to usual
place of residence
(including care home)

Pathway 1 - Additional support at home/usual residence
® Assessment and some additional care and support

(including therapy, nursing, domiciliary care, new
equipment)

* Safe to be at home/usual residence

Patient returns to usual
place of residence with
interim support

i
N

Pathway 2 — Rehab +/- reablement in a temporary bedded setting

e Short term bedded rehabilitation +/- reablement and
assessment

e Unsafe to be at home/usual residence

* Includes specialist rehabilitation bed

Patient is transferred to a non-
acute bed and receives
rehab/reablement and
assessment until able to safely
return to place of residence

Pathway 3 - Complex
& Complex/significant health and/or social care needs
e Longer term placement
e OR Complex support in usual residence
e OR Significant change in need requiring new
placement

Patient is transferred to a
new long-term bed,

, assessment bed, or usual

" residence, and receives the
complex support and/or
assessment for their needs

Across the 12 months the following numbers of patients were discharged on
pathways one to three (data Source E1004 Tableau Discharge Dashboard).

Pathway | % District | Actual DGH % Integrated | Actual ICO
general care
hospital organisation
(DGH) (1ICO)

1 39.6% 1,916 44.4% 2,985

2 52.8% 2,553 49.2% 3,305

3 7.5% 364 6.2% 420

Average length of stay

The average length of stay (LOS) in 2023/24, on a rolling 12-month average, has
decreased from 8.0 days in April 2023 to 7.1 days in March 2024. This remains
higher than pre-covid levels of around 6 days, however, this is reflective of the
national position. We are now again within the lowest quartile of trusts nationally for

length of stay.

In 2024/25 reducing length of stay remains an ongoing key focus to support both
elective and non-elective activity and as such has been recognised in improvement
plans to target the longest stay patients with more frequent review and specifically
centred on early morning discharge, discharges before 5pm, and at the weekend.

Stroke care

Patients presenting with suspected stroke require rapid assessment diagnostics and
dedicated rehabilitation care. The sentinel stroke national audit programme (SSNAP)

Page 56

Page 44 of 79



measures the time critical processes of care provided across acute and community
settings.

We did not meet the standards for the percentage of people admitted to a stroke unit
within four-hours of arrival or the percentage of people spending 90% or more of
their hospital stay on a dedicated stroke ward.

We have a stroke improvement plan to support patient outcomes and achievement
of time critical standards. This plan is managed through the clinically led stroke
governance meeting.

Maternity performance

Maternity assurance metrics are based on the required reporting as set out by NHS
England Perinatal Quality Surveillance Model (2020) and Three- year Delivery Plan
(2023)

They are also based on the requirements set out in the maternity incentive scheme
(MIS) as part of the clinical negligence scheme for trusts (CNST). A single Board
reporting template is now in use for the maternity providers in Devon.

A monthly dashboard is produced which is monitored via our maternity governance
and quality group. Metrics are shared via quality and safety assurance groups within
the organisation. An integrated performance report is shared at the monthly Board of
Directors meetings.

Birth rate
The number of births for 2023/24 was 1,760. This is a reduction from 2022/23 when
it was 1,847 and reduction in birth rate is a national trend.

There continues to be an increasing complexity associated with pregnancy and birth
due to several factors. These include demographics, health inequalities as well as
being related to the standards that underpin safe care.

Perinatal mortality rate

The graph below shows the perinatal mortality detail for 2023/24. There were no
stillbirths over 24 weeks in 2023. This compares to eight stillbirths in 2022/23. The
service recorded two late fetal losses and one neonatal death in 2023/24.

Stillbirth, Neonatal Death and Late Fetal Loss
Year to Date

0
Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23  Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23

m Stillbirth W Neonatal Death Late Fetal Loss (22+2)

Page 57 Page 45 of 79



Smoking rates

There has been a marked reduction in the number of women smoking at time of
delivery (SATOD). Historically the SATOD data was 13-15%. With the introduction of
the smoke-free pregnancy team this rate has dropped to 8.1% for the year 2023/24.
This is below the national average of 8.6%.

Assurance and performance monitoring
Weekly assurance meetings are held with operational leads and the system care
group directors reporting to the Chief Operating Officer.

These meetings are in addition to the monthly care group performance and
accountability meetings with escalation to the Trust Management Group (TMG). The
Board of Directors receives a monthly Chief Operating Officer report that highlights
operational performance and actions being taken along with the Integrated
Performance Report.

Page 58 Page 46 of 79



Annex 1: Statement of Directors’ responsibilities for the Quality Account

The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009, National Health Service
(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 and National Health Service (Quality Account)
Amendment Regulation 2011 to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.

The Department of Health has issued guidance on the form and content of annual
Quality Accounts (which incorporate the above legal requirements).

In preparing the Quality Account, Directors are required to take steps to satisfy

themselves that:

e the Quality Account presents a balanced picture of the organisation’s
performance over the period covered

e the performance information reported in the Quality Account is reliable and
accurate

e there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the
measures of performance included in the Quality Account, and these controls are
subject to review to confirm that they are working effectively in practice

e the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality
Account is robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and
prescribed definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review

¢ the Quality Account has been prepared in accordance with Department of Health
guidance.

The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied
with the above requirements in preparing the Quality Account.

By order of the Board

Liz Davenport
Chief Executive

Date: 26 June 2024

Page 59 Page 47 of 79



Annex 2: Quality Account engagement

We presented a briefing on the draft quality account to our Council of Governors on
01 May 2024, providing an update on our progress against our four quality goals,
sharing and discussing our revised quality goals and priorities, highlighting key
priorities for our patient safety incident investigation for 2024/25 and putting the
patient safety incident response framework in context within our quality and patient
safety strategy.

The draft Quality Account was circulated to the organisations listed below for review
and comment during the period commencing 22 May 2024 to 17 June 2024.

Devon Integrated Care Board (ICB)

Devon City Council Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Torbay Council Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Healthwatch Plymouth, Devon and Torbay

We would like to thank all of our external stakeholders for their review and all
comments received have been included within Annex 3.

Page 60 Page 48 of 79



Annex 3: Statements from stakeholders and partners

Council of Governors
This year has continued to be a challenging one with the ongoing aftermath of the
COVID pandemic and planning around the strikes by medical staff.

Some efficiency measures put in place during the pandemic have been retained as
they were seen to improve the patient’s experience and wellbeing.

While we appreciate these are challenging times, the Governors have been focused
on holding the NEDs to account, with patient safety and wellbeing foremost in our
minds.

Our Governor observers continue to sit in on key committee meetings, reporting
back to the Council of Governors significant issues affecting quality of care and
delivery of services.

The Council of Governors have agreed the quality goals and priorities meetings for
2024/25 with the focus on patient flow and waiting lists with key contributions from
the Interim System Care Group Director and Cancer Services Manager.

The Trust has a strategic intent for their regain and renew plan which is:

e to deliver better health and care for all while meeting fundamental standards and
quality of care.

e to care for and give time to care for people who use their services.

e to review their care model, building on what works and what they are proud of
and taking it further to help support people and communities to live well

e toreturn to and exceed their pre-pandemic performance

e delivering better care at the right time and in the right place

e to work with partners to improve services, to more efficiently use the resources
available.

The Trust has set out four quality goals, focusing on the next three years. These are:
reducing healthcare inequalities

continuously seeking to reduce harm

excellence in clinical outcomes

deliver what matters most to people.

The Trust has signed up to the SEND pledge part of this plan, they worked with
children, young people and their families to create the pledge which sets out how
they will treat people who use their services. The Torbay pledge says they should be
honest, show they care, be thoughtful, be fair, be kind, and be friendly.

A Governor Working Group is in place to decide the process by which feedback

would be obtained from Governors to inform the Chair/NED appraisal process this

year. This formed several parts:

e NEDs were asked to complete a self-assessment template, which was shared
with Governors

e Governors completed the attached feedback form, one each for the Chair/NEDs

Page 61 Page 49 of 79



e a workshop was held to consider all the feedback received and agreed what will
be put forward to inform the appraisals

Our chairman Sir Richard Ibbotson is approaching the end of his tenure as Chair at
the invitation of the Council of Governors.

On behalf of the Council of Governors | would like to wish him all the best for the
future.

Andrew Postlethwaite
Lead Governor

Page 62 Page 50 of 79



Devon Integrated Care Board (ICB)

NHS Devon Integrated Care Board (ICB) would like to thank Torbay and South
Devon NHS Foundation Trust (TSDFT) for the opportunity to comment on the quality
account for 2023/24. TSDFT is commissioned by NHS Devon ICB to provide
integrated care with an acute and community hospitals as well as multi-disciplinary
health and social are teams within the community across Torbay and South Devon.
We seek assurance that care provided is safe and of high quality, ensuring that care
is effective and that the experience of care is positive.

As Commissioners we have taken reasonable steps to review the accuracy of data
provided within this Quality Account and consider it contains accurate information in
relation to the services provided and reflects the information shared with the
Commissioner over the 2023/24 period.

Despite ongoing pressure on staff and services, this Quality Account has highlighted
a number of positive results against key objectives for 2023/24. These include:

1/ Zero avoidable deaths - TSDFT committed to improving the identification and
management of people with sepsis. We established a sepsis improvement group
which has delivered the trustwide sepsis clinical policy for adults and paediatric care.
The sepsis bundle audit framework was set up and a compliance rate of 86.9%
against a goal of 100% was achieved. This area remains a priority for 2024/25.

2/ Continuously seek out and reduce harm - we focused on the fundamentals of
care for inpatient settings. This included patient falls assessments, reduction in falls
and improved nutrition and hydration.

Despite improving compliance within the FallSafe audit, particularly lying and
standing blood pressure the reduction of falls has plateaued and harms have
increased. To draw the themes from the overall increased levels of harm reported, a
deep dive review is being led by consultants. This will remain a priority.

An average of 96.8% compliance for nutrition and hydration assessments was
achieved and there have been additional advancements including an increase in
mealtime companions from 8 to 42, establishing a focused council and launching the
nutrition and hydration campaign.

3/ Excellence in outcomes - To use the National Early Warning Score, (NEWS) to
improve identification of the deteriorating patient. Our goal was for 100% of patients
to have physiological observations on admission, the current compliance is 98%.
Targeted support is available for wards not achieving 100%.

4/ Deliver what matters most to our people - TSDFT committed to improving
discharges home by involving patients and families into the discharge planning and
ensuring safe, personal, and compassionate transitions from hospital to home. The
NHS 2023 patient survey identified we were within the top 5% for discharge and after
hospital support.

Page 63 Page 51 of 79



The ICB also notes and welcomes the 2024/25 priorities outlined by TSDFT in their
Quality Account and will look forward to seeing achievements within the quality
improvement priorities and revised quality goals. Each of these programmes will
continue to evidence and improve quality and safety for the benefit of patients,
families, carers and staff building on the lessons learned from 2023/24.

During the reporting period 2023/24 TSDFT underwent a Well-led CQC inspection
which included four core service inspections: urgent and emergence care, medical
care, out-patient care and radiology/imaging. Our overall rating has gone from
“Good” to “Requires Improvement” although care as a domain remains outstanding.
A planned maternity inspection as part of the national CQC programme was
completed and services remained at “Requires Improvement”. As a commissioner,
we have worked closely with TSDFT during 2023/24 and will continue to do so in
respect of all current and future CQC reviews undertaken, to receive the necessary
assurances that actions have been taken to support continued, high-quality care.

On review of this Quality Account, TSDFT commitment to continually improving
quality of care is evident. The ICB looks forward to working with TSDFT in the
coming year, in continuing to make improvements to healthcare services provided to
the people of Devon.

Page 64 Page 52 of 79



Devon

County Council

Health and Adult Care Scrutiny Committee

COMMENTARY ON THE TORBAY AND SOUTH DEVON NHS FOUNDATION
TRUST QUALITY ACCOUNT 2023/24

Devon County Council’'s Health and Adult Care Scrutiny Committee has been invited
to comment on the Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust Quality Account
for the year 2023/24. All references in this commentary relate to the reporting period
01 April 2023 to the 31 March 2024 and refer specifically to the Trust’s relationship
with the Scrutiny Committee.

It is the view of the Scrutiny Committee that the Quality Account provides a
comprehensive account and fair reflection of the services offered by the Trust, based
on the Scrutiny Committee’s knowledge.

Members appreciate the positive work that has been carried out by the Trust in
reference to the 2023/24 priorities including reducing patient falls and improving
compliance on patient nutrition and hydration. The Committee commend the focus
on improving the experience for people being discharged home. Members also
welcome the launch of the Patient Safety Incident Response Framework as part of
the Trust ensuring a positive safety culture.

Members are concerned by the 2023 CQC rating the Trust received from its well-led
inspection, with its overall rating changing from Good to Requires Improvement.
Decisive action has been taken, which the Committee hopes will address these
issues.

The challenges the Trust has facilitating timely access for people needing urgent and
emergency care will hopefully be alleviated by the range of improvements that have
been brought into assessment / triage and through the Acute Medical Unit. Members
also recognise the continued challenges the Trust faces in terms of staffing retention
and recruitment particularly in some specialist roles.

The Committee fully supports the Trust priorities for 2024/25 in their entirety, and
welcome the necessary focus being given to these priorities. Reducing health care
inequalities across the Devon health and care system is of paramount importance.

Members appreciate the continued challenges the Trust faces with significant
periods of increased operational escalation and the focus on elective care recovery.
Members expect the Trust to ensure patients and staff receive the best support
possible. Members welcome the prospect of a continued positive working
relationship with the Trust, and ongoing monitoring of progress against these
priorities through the Quality Account Standing Overview Group of the Health and
Adult Care Scrutiny Committee.

Page 65 Page 53 of 79



TORBAY COUNCIL

Torbay Council Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Thank you for inviting Torbay Council’'s Adult Social Care and Health Overview and
Scrutiny Sub-Board to include comments in your draft Quality Account for
2023/2024. Due to the timing of the request we have been unable to present the
report formally to our Sub-Board. Therefore, the following statement has been written
by the Director of Adults and Community Services, Jo Williams in consultation with
the Chairwoman of the Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-
Board, Councillor Tolchard on behalf of our health overview and scrutiny Board for
inclusion in your report:

“Torbay Council welcomes TSDFT’ S Quality Account and the priorities for
improvement have benefitted the residents of Torbay.

Torbay Council values the long-standing partnership and supports the focus on quick
and safe discharge. Joint arrangements are in place to provide Mental Capacity
Assessments and Safeguarding, with a successful joint Safeguarding Adults Board in
place across Torbay and Devon.

The Quality Account reflects the shared commitment to our Adult Social Care shared
vision and priorities. We also strongly value our shared commitment to patient and
community engagement and the ‘amplifying people’s voices in care’ project TSDFT
has undertaken. Co-production of the ‘Big Plan’ for Learning Disabilities has been a
real achievement for our partnership with people with LD and their carers.”

Members would welcome the opportunity for representatives of the Trust to come

along to a future meeting of the Sub-Board to enable wider discussion on the issues
contained within the report.

Yours sincerely
Anne Hawley

Senior Democratic, Overview and Scrutiny Officer

Page 66 Page 54 of 79



Healthwatch Plymouth, Devon and Torbay

Healthwatch Torbay is the independent consumer champion for people using local
health and social care services in Torbay and South Devon. Our work covers all
areas of health and adult social care. This includes GPs, hospitals, dentists, care
homes, pharmacies, opticians and more. We listen to what local residents say about
the healthcare services they use and make sure they are heard by the people in
charge who have the power to improve services.

Healthwatch England, the national lead, has used feedback from service users to
recommend improvements including an effective process for gaining a GP
appointment to facilitate early diagnosis; improved communication and therapy
support whilst on planned care waiting lists; personalised after-care support; greater
involvement of families and carers in the discharge process and good signposting for
follow up of discharge. Of growing concern is the need for education to support
patients in the digital transformation, whilst being aware of digital inequalities.

This Quality Account reflects how the Trust plays its part in the patient journey to
achieve these improvements including an aspiration to reduce waiting times;
mechanisms to reduce patient’s deterioration due to preventable falling; reducing the
risk of deterioration whilst on the ward by a high performing discharge process for
patients to return to their home; stronger connections across the whole health and
social care system.

In addition, the Account demonstrates a desire to be proactive in obtaining
experience feedback from patients, especially after discharge and to create a culture
of honesty in learning from poor experiences. This includes working with local
Healthwatch to identify what matters most to people in Torbay and South Devon.
Mens’ health awareness and use of emergency services when in crisis being two
examples.

This Account is in the context of the complex demographic of our locality; the wide
age profile weighted towards the elderly; financial inequalities and poor mental
health challenges. But, encouragingly, there is a vibrant voluntary, community and
social enterprise sector working hard to fill the gaps. Patients are appreciative of the
care they receive from the Trust and from the people who give it. Positive feedback
from patients is shared with individuals and teams to celebrate that their personal
approach is what matters to those they care for.

Healthwatch Torbay is confident that this Quality Account represents a true picture of

the challenges and achievements of the Trust and the staff and has a clear vision for
24/25.

Page 67 Page 55 of 79



Annex 4: National clinical audits (and number of local audits)

For the Quality Account, the National Advisory Group on Clinical Audit and Enquiries
has published a list of national audits and confidential enquiries. Participation in
these is seen as a measure of quality of any NHS organisation’s clinical audit
programme. The detail which follows relates to this list.

During 2023/24, 54 national clinical audits and three national confidential enquiries

covered relevant health services that we provide.

During this period, we participated in 98% national clinical audits and 100% national
confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries

which we were eligible to participate in.

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that we were eligible to

participate in during 2023/24 follow.

National audits Eligibility Participation
Adult Respiratory Support Audit (BTS) Yes Yes
BAUS Nephrostomy Audit Yes No
Breast and Cosmetic Implant Registry Yes Yes
British Hernia Society Registry No N/A
Case Mix Programme (CMP) Yes Yes
Cleft Registry and Audit Network Database No N/A
Elective Surgery (National PROMS Yes Yes
Programme)
Emergency Medicine QIPs (RCEM) Yes Yes
A. Care of Older People
B. Mental Health (Self Harm)
Epilepsy 12 — National Clinical Audit of Yes Yes
Seizures and Epilepsies for Children and
Young People
Falls and Fragility Fracture Audit Programme Yes Yes
(FFFAP)
A. Fracture Liaison Service Database
B. National Audit of Inpatient Falls
C. National Hip Fracture Database
Improving Quality in Crohn's and Colitis Yes Yes
LeDeR - Learning from lives and deaths of Yes Yes
people with a learning disability and autistic
people (previously known as Learning
Disabilities Mortality Review Programme)
National Adult Diabetes Audit (NPDA) Yes Yes
A. National Diabetes Core Audit
B. National Pregnancy in Diabetes Audit
C. National Diabetes Footcare Audit
D. National Inpatient Diabetes Safety Audit
(Harms)

Page 68

Page 56 of 79



National audits

Eligibility

Participation

National Asthma and Chronic Obstructive
Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit Programme
(NACAP)

A. COPD Secondary Care

B. Pulmonary Rehabilitation

C. Adult Asthma Secondary Care

D. Children and Young Peoples Asthma

Secondary Care

Yes

Yes

National Audit of Cardiac Rehabilitation

Yes

Yes

National Audit of Cardiovascular Disease
Prevention (Primary Care)

No

N/A

National Audit of Care at the End of Life
(NACEL)

Yes

Yes

National Audit of Dementia (NAD)

Yes

Yes

National Audit of Pulmonary Hypertension

No

N/A

National Bariatric Surgery Registry

No

N/A

National Cancer Audit Collaborating Centre -
National Audit of Metastatic Breast Cancer

Yes

Yes

National Cancer Audit Collaborating Centre -
National Audit of Primary Breast Cancer

Yes

Yes

National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA)

Yes

Yes

National Cardiac Audit Programme (NCAP)

National Adult Cardiac Surgery Audit

National Congenital Heart Disease

National Heart Failure Audit

National Audit of Cardiac Rhythm

Management

E. Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit
Project

F. National Percutaneous Coronary
Intervention

G. National Audit of Mitral Valve Leaflet
Repairs

H. The UK Transcatheter Aortic Valve
Implantation Registry

oo

Yes

Yes

National Child Mortality Database (NCMD)

Yes

Yes

National Clinical Audit of Psychosis (NCAP)

No

N/A

National Comparative Audit of Blood
Transfusion
A) 2023 Audit of Blood Transfusion against
NICE Quality Standard 138
B) 2023 Bedside Transfusion Audit

Yes

Yes

National Early Inflammatory Arthritis Audit
(NEIAA)

Yes

Yes

National Emergency Laparotomy Audit (NELA)

Yes

Yes

Page 69

Page 57 of 79



National audits Eligibility Participation
National Gastro-intestinal Cancer Audit Yes Yes
Programme
a) National Bowel Cancer Audit
b) National Oesophago-Gastric Cancer

Audit
National Joint Registry Yes Yes
National Lung Cancer Audit (NLCA) Yes Yes
National Maternity and Perinatal Audit Yes Yes
National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP) Yes Yes
National Obesity Audit No N/A
National Ophthalmology Database (NOD) Yes Yes
National Cataract Audit
National Paediatrics Diabetes Audit (NPDA) Yes Yes
National Prostate Cancer Audit (NPCA) Yes Yes
National Vascular Registry Yes Yes
Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest Outcomes No N/A
Paediatric Intensive Care Audit Network No N/A
Perinatal Mortality Review Tool (PMRT) Yes Yes
Perioperative Quality Improvement Yes Yes
Programme (PQIP)
Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health UK | No N/A
Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme Yes Yes
(SSNAP)
Serious Hazards of Transfusion UK National Yes Yes
Haemovigilance Scheme (SHOT)
Society for Acute Medicine Benchmarking Yes Yes
Audit (SAMBA)
The Trauma Audit and Research Network Yes Yes
(TARN)
UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry No N/A
UK Renal Registry Chronic Kidney Disease No N/A
Audit
UK Renal Registry National Acute Kidney No N/A
Injury Audit
Patient outcome programme incorporating | Eligibility Participation
national confidential enquires
Child Health Clinical Outcome Review Yes Yes
Programme (NCEPQOD)
Maternal and Newborn Infant Clinical Outcome | Yes Yes
Review Programme
Medical and Surgical Clinical Outcome Review | Yes Yes
Programme
Mental Health Clinical Outcome Review No N/A

Programme

Page 70

Page 58 of 79




National clinical audit and patient outcome |Cases % cases
programme incorporating National submitted
Confidential enquires
Adult Respiratory Support Audit (British N/A
Thoracic Society)
Case Mix Programme (CMP) N/A
Elective Surgery (National PROMS N/A
Programme)
Emergency Medicine QIPS (RCEM) N/A
Epilepsy 12 — National Clinical Audit of N/A
Seizures and Epilepsies for Children and Young
People
Falls and Fragility Fracture Audit Programme |60 100
(FFFAP)
¢ National Audit of Inpatient Falls 10 100
e National Hip Fracture Database 232 100
Improving Quality in Crohn's and Colitis 224 100
Leder — Learning from Lives and Deaths of N/A
People with A Learning Disability and Autistic
People
National Adult Diabetes Audit
« National Pregnancy in Diabetes Audit |60 100
National Asthma and Chronic Obstructive N/A
Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit Programme
National Audit of Cardiac Rehabilitation N/A
National Audit of Care at The End of Life 54 100
(NACEL)
National Audit of Dementia (NAD) N/A
National Cancer Audit Collaborating Centre -  |N/A
National Audit of Metastatic Breast Cancer
National Cancer Audit Collaborating Centre — |N/A
National Audit of Primary Breast Cancer
National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA) 45 100
National Cardiac Audit Programme (NCAP) N/A N/A
National Child Mortality Database N/A
National Comparative Audit of Blood N/A
Transfusion
National Early Inflammatory Arthritis Audit 12 100
(NEIAA)
National Emergency Laparotomy Audit (NELA) ({147 100
National Gastro-Intestinal Cancer Audit
Programme 281 100100
a) National Bowel Cancer Audit 139
b) National Oesophago-Gastric
Cancer Audit
National Joint Registry 545 100

Page 71

Page 59 of 79




National clinical audit and patient outcome |Cases % cases
programme incorporating National submitted
Confidential enquires

National Maternity and Perinatal Audit (NMPA) |N/A

National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP) (31 100
National Ophthalmology Database —

National Cataract Audit 1951 100
National Paediatric Diabetes Audit (NPDA) N/A

National Prostate Cancer Audit (NPCA) 264 100
National Vascular Registry (NVR) N/A

Perinatal Mortality Review Tool (PMRT) N/A

Perioperative Quality Improvement Programme [30 100
Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme N/A

(SSNAP)

Serious Hazards of Transfusion UK National ~ |[N/A
Haemovigilance Scheme (SHOT)

Society For Acute Medicine Benchmarking N/A

Audit (SAMBA)

The Trauma Audit and Research Network

(TARN) Clinical Report 2 — Orthopaedic Injuries 641 100

Cases submitted to clinical audits and confidential enquiries

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that we participated in,
and for which data collection was completed during 2023/24, are listed below
alongside the number of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of
the number of registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry.

Patient Outcome Programme Incorporating
National Confidential Enquires

Cases
submitted

%
Cases

Child Health Clinical Outcome Review
Programme (NCEPQOD)

N/A

Medical And Surgical Clinical Outcome Review
Programme (NCEPOD)

1. Community Acquired Pneumonia Study

2. Crohn’s Disease Study

3. Transition from Child to Adult Services Study
4. Epilepsy Study

100
83
100
75

Maternal and Newborn Infant Clinical Outcome
Review Programme

LeDeR - learning from lives and deaths of
people with a learning disability and autistic
people

100%

Our response to the findings of clinical audits

Page 72

Page 60 of 79




We reviewed the reports of 30 national clinical audits in 2023/2024 and we intend to
take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided:

Ref Recommendations / actions

0974 (Falls and Fragility Fracture Audit Programme FFFAP)
National Audit of Inpatient Falls
Pilot of hot debrief and ‘After Action Reviews’ (AAR) post fall to evaluate process.

Look at trends - Four-week pilot on Cheetham Hill, Simpson, Templar and Teign
wards.

Evaluation forms - Involve Governance teams who are starting to use AAR.

Post fall review policy and training in line with new (RCP) Royal College of
Physicians supporting best & safe practice - Read document and review policy and
bed-based falls training as appropriate. Continue to promote and embed training.
Additional clinical Emergency Department expert. Record training video. Ensure
standards in line with education charter and national documentation.

Multi factorial risk assessment (MFRA) - L/S BP (Lying/ Standing blood pressure)
increase uptake on acute wards - Increase training on wards from falls lead with
project hours involving practice educators and QI improvement coach. Maintain
focus through Fall safe audit.

Multi factorial risk assessment (MFRA) - Ensure patients receive a vision
assessment to check for any impairments - Add look out tool to new risk assessment
booklet. Review results from Allerton pilot. Look at rolling out some form of visual
assessment to inpatient areas. Involve Orthoptist.

Non-executive director with specific responsibility for falls - Identify non-executive
director. Attendance at FFSG (Falls and Fragility Steering Group) and support with
fall prevention.

1102 (Falls and Fragility Fracture Audit Programme FFFAP)

National Hip Fracture Database

No minutes taken to document the formal Hip Fracture Governance meetings -
secure administration support.

Long Emergency Department waits with poor figures achieving admission to an
Orthopaedic ward within four hours - An Emergency Department ‘sprint’ audit looking
at the efficiency aspects of ED care.

Out of date guidance for bone protection post hip fracture - Update all hip fracture
guidance to reflect current consensus recommendation.

Page 73 Page 61 of 79



1092 (NCMD) National Child Mortality Database Programme —

Death of children and young people due to traumatic incidents
Recommendation 3

Develop and deliver regular education and training events, including simulation-
based training, on children and young people presenting with penetrating injuries
and cardiothoracic emergencies including damage control surgical training for all on
call surgical consultants. This should be delivered to all clinical teams involved in the
care of major trauma patients. All organisations involved in commissioning and
delivering education and training for healthcare professionals should work together
to deliver this recommendation.

Action required - Action for Bristol Childrens Hospital as the Major Trauma Centre for
the Southwest. Paediatric Consultant TSDFT representative to support group and
feedback any education requirements for Trust staff training.

Recommendation 6

Ensure that the importance of safe bathing techniques, including the adult always
staying within arm’s reach of young children at bath time, is a public health focus in
accident prevention. This should include the updating of relevant training packages
for professionals including community midwives and health visitors to ensure
families are aware of safe bathing techniques. All organisations involved in
commissioning and delivering education and training for healthcare professionals
should work together to deliver this recommendation —

Action required - Action for Institute of Health Visiting.

TSDFT consideration by Professional Practice Service Lead for 0 to19 Torbay Public
Health Nurses and Associate Director of Midwifery and Professional Practice (Head
of Midwifery).

To consider current practice in midwifery and Health Visiting services and identify
any improvements required.

Recommendation 16

Ensure universal delivery of programmes to reduce inequalities in line with the
recommendations made in the NCMD thematic report on child mortality and
deprivation. This should include implementation of the Healthy Child Programme
and offers of intensive support to vulnerable families and those at higher risk
identified in this report. All organisations involved in commissioning and delivery of
relevant programmes should work together to deliver this recommendation —

Action required - Action for Integrated Care Boards and Local Authorities.

For consideration of TSDFT representative Professional Practice Service Lead for 0
to19 Torbay Public Health Nurses re implementation of the Health Child Programme.

Recommendation 17

Ensure sharing of information and learning within integrated care systems with
support from Integrated Care Partnerships/ Integrated Care Boards to support
targeted implementation based on local data (e.g., knife crime). All organisations
involved in the commissioning and delivery of the Child Death Review process
should work together to deliver this recommendation —

Page 74 Page 62 of 79



Action required - Action for Child Death Overview panels, Integrated Care Boards,
Integrated Care Partnerships, National Child Mortality Database.

Paediatric Matron, Named Nurse for Safeguarding Children, Child Death review
Coordinator and Named Doctor for Child Death review to review current reporting
processes to ensure prompt Trust wide learning is shared from Child death review
meetings.

1061 (NCMD) National Child Mortality Database Programme —

Sudden and Unexpected Deaths in Infancy and Childhood

Safer sleeping is an important part of advice given to women and their families
during pregnancy. It is important to give the appropriate advice and escalate
vulnerable families to the Health Visiting Team. System One has triggers and options
for sharing information - Share the report findings in the next Clinical Governance
Newsletter.

1133 (NEIAA) National Early Inflammatory Arthritis (EIA) Audit

Improve audit recruitment in 2023/ 24 period - Oversee pathway detailed below and
continue to advertise NEIAA and encourage engagement by whole team.

To ensure all patients triaged as ‘query’ EIA have a data collection proforma in their
notes/ available at time of first assessment and three-month assessment - Medical
secretaries to ensure proforma is attached to referral letter. Medical secretaries to
ensure all clinic sites have spare proformas available. Medical secretaries to have
spare proformas available to consultants on request.

Ensure all proformas fully completed at baseline for eligible patients - Proformas to
be completed and returned to Medical secretaries office.

Ensure date DMARD (Disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs) started is entered on
proforma and proformas are returned to Audit Team.

Flag patients in whom treatment is delayed - Medications team to add data. Report
to consultant and weekly medication meeting if DMARD not started within three
weeks of appointment for any reason. Send completed proformas to Audit Team.

Ensure all patient data is uploaded onto the National Database - Audit department to
upload data and flag any incomplete forms.

Improve input of three-month patient data - Nurses to check booking of four month
follow up appointment at time of RHEUM/VC appointment. Consultant to complete
proforma. Consultant and med secs to receive reminder e-mail from NEIAA and to
circulate as reminder to consultants. Med secs to ensure that all patients have their
four month follow up booked and remind consultant just prior to that appointment
that this is coming up.

Focus for 2023/4:
Number of patients seen within three weeks of referral - Continue to monitor supply
and demand of EIA clinic appts. Flag issues to clinical lead/ in business meetings.

Number of patients starting DMARD within six weeks of referral - Continue to

monitor time to treatment and flag any issues or delays to clinical lead/ business
meetings. Flag all patients who have not started DMARD within three weeks of EIA

Page 75 Page 63 of 79



clinic to their consultant. Discuss any issues in weekly biologics meeting/ business
meetings.

Continue to optimise EIA pathway and staffing - Implement changes as identified in
the regional SWIFT project including purchasing of tablets to agree treatment on the
day.

1140 (NNAP) National Neonatal Audit Programme

Review last 20 cases where antenatal steroid administration was suboptimal -
Maternity case review.

Audit why mixed feed predominates over exclusive feeding - Audit of breast feeding.

Page 76 Page 64 of 79



Ref Recommendations / actions

0930 (RCEM) Consultant Sign Off

Symphony flag-up if possible - To discuss with the Symphony Change Group whether
it is possible to flag up the Consultant Sign-off cases.

0929 (RCEM) Pain in Children

Time to pain assessment from arrival/ triage - carry out a local re-audit.

Time to 1st dose of analgesia - carry out a local re-audit.

Pain re-evaluation after 60 minutes - Audit +/- Symphony to flag the need for pain re-
evaluation.

1050 BASHH Management of Mycoplasma Genitalium (Mgen)

Improve offer of written information - Highlighted to team at meeting that paper patient
information leaflet is available within department. Create standard text with link to
digital copy.

Clarify procedure for reporting treatment failure - Look up sources and establish what
pathway is within team. Report back at Clinical Governance meeting.

Improve ease of testing requests - Ask Pathology to add on Cyberlab.

Establish procedure re TOC (Test of Cure) - Review evidence and discuss at Clinical
Governance meeting.

1079 Birth Before Arrival at Hospital in the Southwest: an exploration of inequalities
and call taker advice

Review advice given to Mothers when phoning following a Birth Before Arrival.
Practical ways of keeping the baby warm - To include in Clinical Governance
Newsletter.

1046 Devon Sexual Health 3-site audit of Emergency Contraception

Better documentation of advice re follow up pregnancy testing - look into generating
new emergency contraception pill with advice re follow up and quick starting after
Ellone.

1166 Endocrine and Thyroid National Audit

Nuclear Medicine MIBI (Myocardial perfusion) scan provision for parathyroid patients -
Maintenance and recommission the service ASAP.

Ensure UKRETS registry and audit input for all cases in Torbay continues - Time in
job plan to complete data input.

Ensure minimum operative numbers for operation surgeon (x20 + per annum) - Allow
x two designated thyroid surgeons.

1059 Lynch Syndrome Audit
Unreliable communication of genetic reports - streamline delivery of electronic reports
to MDT (multidisciplinary team) members.

Page 77 Page 65 of 79



Not meeting NICE 2017 guidelines for reactive MSI (Microsatellite Instability) testing
on all new colorectal cancer diagnosis - Colorectal MDT to instigate reactive MSI
testing for all new colorectal cancer diagnosis.

Safety netting to ensure MSI completed on all new colorectal cancer diagnosis -
Document MSI on MDT outcomes.

0963 National Audit into Management of Stevens Johnson Syndrome/ Toxic
Epidermal Necrolysis (BAD)

No areas of deficiency identified, opportunity for education on this topic - local
teaching on audit results.

0990 National Audit of Cardiac Rehabilitation

The report recommends that all patients taking part in cardiac rehabilitation exercise
should have a baseline exercise test. This is not achievable as the Cardiac Rehab
Team have been unable to recruit a Physiotherapist/ Trainer able to complete these
assessments - Lack of baseline exercise test - Further exploration of causes required.

Page 78 Page 66 of 79



Recommendations / actions

1091 National Audit of Care at the End of Life (NACEL)

Identification/ documentation of preferred place of care (PPOC) for dying patients in
both Torbay and Community Hospitals —

Action —

1. NACEL Round 4 results presented to Medical Grand Round on 11th September
2023.

2. NACEL results discussed at End of Life Board August & September 2023 & results
circulated to Senior nursing staff.

3. Email junior doctors re. main survey findings and action plan — encourage
conversations about PPOC.

4. Palliative care team to increase exploration of PPOC when involved with patients’
care.

Documentation of indication for use of anticipatory drugs on medication chart in both
Torbay and Community Hospitals —

Action —

1.NACEL results presented at Grand Round

2.Email junior doctors to encourage complete prescriptions

3.Palliative care team to review PRN medications on drug charts to ensure completion.

Discuss food and fluids at end of life with patients and families in Torbay —
Action —

1.NACEL presented at Grand Round

2.Email junior doctors to encourage discussions/ documentation
3.Palliative care team to encourage discussions when involved

4. Discussion at Ambassadors training.

Communicate to patients that they may be dying — Community Hospitals.
Action —

1. NACEL results circulated to Senior Nursing staff

2. Email junior doctors to encourage more conversations.

Assess spiritual/ religious needs at the end of life — Community Hospitals —

Action —

1. Palliative Care CNS (Clinical Nurse Specialist) Lead for Education — To share results
with Community Hospitals nursing staff/ Sisters and identify need for Chaplaincy team
to provide teaching/ support/ input

2. Discussion at Ambassadors Training.

0972 National Audit of Seizures and Epilepsies in Children and Young People
(Epilepsy 12)

Improvement of the documentation of the first paediatric assessment - Proforma for
first paediatric assessment to be linked to "first fit" Trust guidelines (in the pipeline).

Time since first request for EEG- NICE recommends within four weeks from request -
To liaise with the Neurophysiology service at the Royal Devon and Exeter Hospital and

Page 79 Page 67 of 79



look at possible solutions.

1094 National Audit of Seizures and Epilepsies in Children and Young People
(Epilepsy 12)

Improvement of the documentation of the first paediatric assessment - Proforma for
first paediatric assessment to be linked to "first fit” Trust guidelines (in the pipeline).

ECG in patients with convulsive seizures - First fit Trust guidelines (in the pipeline).

1054 National Benchmarking audit of Progesterone-only Pill Provision

Take part in Faculty of Sexual and Reproductive Health (FSRH) - Take part in FSRH
re-audit when announced.

0996 National Cardiac Arrest Audit (ICNARC)

Lack of Amiodarone minijet on resus trolley - Ensure all resus trollies have amiodarone
vials, monitor during cardiac arrest. Replace once minijet available.

Issues affecting cardiac arrest call bleeps - Monitor situation with switchboard.

1008 National Emergency Laparotomy Audit (NELA)
Low admission rates to post operative critical care for high-risk patients - Increase in
commissioned number of critical care beds from 10 to 14.

Lack of access to geriatrician-led assessment of frail patients >65 years or >80 years -
Commissioning of a perioperative team experienced in the management of frailty and
older patients.

Timeliness of antibiotic administration - Internal clinical audit, action guided by findings,
promotion of adult sepsis bundle.

1137 National Joint Registry (NJR)

National Joint Registry documented revision rates at five and ten years for Total Knee
Replacement elevated - continue to liaise with NJR and perform bi-annual meetings to
assess individual surgeon data. Raise issues if concerned.

1010 National Lung Cancer Audit Report
Breaches associated with 2 Week Wait clinic appointments - Increase Respiratory
Consultant time to facilitate more clinics.

Breaches/ Long waits with surgical clinics - More clinic space required to accommodate
surgical clinics.

Record smoking status - add field to MDT (multidisciplinary) proforma to record this
better.

Surgical follow up clinics by Lung Cancer Specialist Nurse - LCNS to review long term
surgical follow up patients - would require more LCSN time (post) and clinic room.

Lung Cancer Specialist Nurse job plan - Service understaffed in terms of LCSN time,
look at recruiting LCSN.

Page 80 Page 68 of 79



Data uploading to National System - Identify (and rectify) a long-standing issue with the
data that we send to National audit not matching the data that is issued in the report,
particularly with regards patients seen by LCSN, surgical resection rates.

0514 National Maternity and Perinatal Audit - NHS Maternity Care for Women with
Multiple Births and their Babies

Ensure data accuracy - request/ record data on the number of fetuses in the first
trimester of pregnancy, in addition to number at birth.

Review limitations of SystmOne - Make chronicity and amnionicity a compulsory data
item in maternity information systems.

Review SystmOne multiple births proformas - Include a compulsory field on planned
mode of birth.

1142 National Ophthalmology Database Audit (National Cataract Audit)
Insufficient patient surveys - conduct Friends and Family surveys for surgical patients.

Insufficient patient surveys - create a survey for surgical patients and audit quarterly.

1073 NPDA (RCPH National Paediatric Diabetes audit)

We need to continue to reduce the number of CYP (Children and Young People) with a
high HbAlc over 80. Children from the most deprived families are over-represented in
this group —

Mindful of the cost both financial and in terms of time of clinic attendance is
disproportionately born by those from the most deprived backgrounds, we are
establishing community clinics to see these patients closer to home. Meaning less time
missed out of school and less expenditure of public transport etc.

We are focusing on access to technology such as the hybrid close loop pump that can
dramatically improve diabetes management for those from deprived backgrounds.

We have initiated group pump starts both to start as many children who really need this
tech as quickly as possible but also so they have peer support and can learn and help
each other.

1149 Perioperative Quality Improvement Programme (PQIP)
Mobilising on Day 1 - Will need more physio in level 1.5 care.

Postoperative pain management - Involve Acute Pain team, ‘Allegro’ trial ongoing.
0870 Quality Outcomes in Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery (QOMS)
No Consultant Restorative Dentist as Core Member of Head & Neck MDT - Develop

funding for Consultant Restorative Dentist as Core member of Head & Neck MDT.

Not able to offer sentinel node biopsy for early-stage node negative oral SCC - Develop
sentinel node biopsy service.

Page 81 Page 69 of 79



1068 Radiology Reporting of Osteoporotic Vertebral Fragility Fractures (VFFs) on CT
Studies —

A re-audit following the 2019 National RCR Audit

Re-audit of local data and compare to national audit.

0962 UK Parkinsons Audit
Documentation of medicines side effects - MDT discussion.

ACP (Advanced Care Planning) discussions - Liaise with Palliative Care Teams,
education.

Therapy referrals - better documentation.

Documentation of NMS (Non-Motor Symptoms) - possible trial of use of NMS
guestionnaire.

0947 (NCEPOD) Crohn's Disease

Poor record keeping of IBD MDTs - Record outcomes and distribute to MDT
(multidisciplinary) members.

Incident reporting of delay surgery - Emergency Crohn's Surgery of waiting list
patients to be incident reported.

Psychological and peer support for Crohn's patients - Consider improvements to
access.

0860 (NCEPOD) Epilepsy Study
Lack of documentation in lifestyle and occupational advice - Information leaflets
arranged, discussion in Neurology Clinical Governance Meeting.

No standardised proforma for first seizure referral for the ward patients - First fit
guidance on Microguide App.

Not seeking witness account in all available cases - Discussion in Neurology
Clinical Governance Meeting.

No advice to video future events - Discussion in Neurology Clinical Governance
Meeting.
We reviewed the reports of two national confidential enquiries in 2023/ 24 and intend
to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided.
We reviewed the reports of 24 local clinical audits in 2023/ 24 and we intend to take

the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided (six audit projects
did not need any actions).

Page 82 Page 70 of 79



Ref Recommendations / actions
6642 Suspected physical abuse (SPA) - Radiology compliance with national
guidance
- Contact other trusts to see if SPA cases remain low
- Escalate concerns re low numbers to named doctors for Safeguarding
children
- Training — we need to train more staff. Investigate engaging in a simulation-
based training package via Exeter University - Ongoing, monitored via a
separate forum.

6679 Paediatric suspected appendicitis pathway

- If appendicitis diagnosed: Make sure intravenous (1V) antibiotics prescribed,
Record the decision to operate, in theatre if pus give gentamicin, post stop
antibiotics, stop antibiotics if 3 days of IVs completed, longer term IV access if ileus
suspected. Pre discharge checks.

6699 Venous thromboembolism (VTE) prophylaxis: prescription of
Enoxaparin for surgical patients
- Set up a 'Teaching session' for Junior and Middle Grade doctors regarding
these guidelines
- Design and display a poster about this information within the Surgical
Receiving Unit
- Discussion within Trust VTE team meeting for adding this information to the
Drug chart/ VTE form
6701 Management of suspected Gynaecomastia
- Introduce GP education webinars
- Update Devon Formulary partnership
- Investigate producing/ introducing Gynaecomastia flow pathway diagram

6732 Documentation of Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service
(CAMHS) assessments for paediatric inpatients
- Crisis team proforma developed incorporating data/ audit outcomes and
requirements for appropriate written communication
- Instigate a monthly review of five crisis cases assessing documented
communication

6738 Ultrasonography (US) findings in cases of abnormal Magnetic
Resonance Cholangiopancreatography (MRCP)
- Conduct a peer review of common bile duct (CBD) images and
measurement to check staff are using inner to inner technique
- Ensure less ambiguity in the terminology used in sonographer reports to
assist referring
- Implement standardised reporting statement on protocol
- Investigate and implement education for correct measuring of CBD,
especially in older people

6739 Adult hearing aid pathway
- ‘Treatment to review’ will be discussed with Head of Department and all staff

Page 83 Page 71 of 79



at the next meeting to devise a plan to improve. We are encouraged to
follow the Patient initiated follow-up pathway (PIFU) now for most patients.
We have amended our record keeping templates to allow staff to input if a
review was offered/ declined as the patients that decline will not be included
in the next audit

- QoL (part 1) - As these assessments were conducted over the phone this
often got left out due to restrictions of discussing things with hearing
impaired people over the phone. Now that assessments are completed Face
to Face we should see an overall improvement to this for the next audit —
Staff reminded at Team meeting

- QoL (part 2) - This low score runs in conjunction with the low review score
action as these have not routinely been conducted and will be addressed at
the next meeting.

- Real Ear Measurement (REM) completed as required - The timing of this
audit fell around restrictions for Covid when we were advised not to
complete REMs as it involves close patient contact in a confined area, also
possibly triggering a cough reflex. Since restrictions have eased, we have
advised all staff that these measurements should again be routinely
completed on each patient, as appropriate, and document when it has not
been done. Through our regular staff competency checks we can monitor
this and have already seen a huge improvement overall from when this audit
was conducted. Staff will be emailed and reminded at the next staff meeting
to carry out REMs when possible

6742 Lipid lowering therapy for primary prevention of cardiovascular
disease (CVD) in patients with type 1 Diabetes
- Introduce a patient information ‘App’ with leaflets and questionnaires
- Poster designed to display in clinic rooms to remind clinicians
- Investigate addition of an Infoflex prompt to remind clinicians to consider
statins

6745 Documentation in surgical patients’ notes using the Surgical 'Hot
Week' ward round
pro-forma
- Highlight importance of clear documentation - Present at F1 teaching
session
- Encourage use of Ward Round sheets and all the 'boxes' on them
- Discuss barriers to documentation to inform future cycles and review GMC
guidance

6750 Blood Pressure (BP) management in Intracerebral Haemorrhage (IH) in
Emergency Department (ED)
- Provide a teaching session within ED
- Introduce a new proforma within a 'stroke box' in ED rather than relying on
access via Trust Intranet

6756 Venous Thromboembolism (VTE) assessment on Louisa Cary

paediatric ward
- To continue risk assessment (RA) reminder in Safety Brief before handover,

Page 84 Page 72 of 79



including highlight for second time RA when the patient has to stay longer
- Ensure on admission, every time before attaching treatment chart, check
whether the second page of RA is correct

6760 Cerebral Palsy Integrated Pathway (CPIP) of hip surveillance
- Write a letter to Community Paediatricians and Head of Physiotherapy to
highlight the issue that no one has overall responsibility — this needs
ownership and effective leadership.

6764 Rational prescribing of oral antibiotics to treat paediatric Group A
Streptococcus (GAS) infections
- Rationalise prescribing in suspected GAS:
- Introduce ‘FeverPAIN’ score (sticker and/or a QR code) to Short
Stay Paediatric Assessment Unit notes
- Produce and launch a new GAS triage protocol
- Increase awareness to improve ‘FeverPAIN’ scoring and swab data
correlation

6708 Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and Proton Pump
inhibitor (PPIs) for trauma and elective orthopaedic patients
- Request ward pharmacists mention and discuss this with prescriber when
doing drugs for discharge (TTAS)
- Surgeons reminded to mention PPIs in op-notes if NSAIDs prescribed
- Nurses have been made aware of protocol and can discuss with prescriber
- NSAIDs are usually prescribed by anaesthetists in theatres - to raise the
guestion with them if they can co-prescribe
6770 Rectal Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) staging vs histological
staging for rectal cancer
- Introduce a reporting template
- Provide additional MRI radiograph training to focus especially on obtaining
five perpendicular slices through the tumour
- Share change in guidance through audit meeting specifically, a node
contacting the margin does not mean an involved margin

6776 Management of Scabies
- Team discussion regarding best source of information for leaflet (PIL) -
British Association for Sexual Health and HIV (BASHH) PIL (Patient
Information Leaflet)
- Print copies of the BASHH Scabies PIL to have in clinic
- Create text link to BASHH PIL

6779 Is one Occipito-Mental (OM) radiographic view enough to accurately
diagnose a facial fracture?

- Produce a poster for display in Emergency Department’s 'fishbowl'
6782 Optimising intravenous (IV) antibiotic prescribing practices: A review
of appropriateness and transition to oral therapy

- Teaching session for the FY1 doctors covering surgical wards about

Page 85 Page 73 of 79



reviewing patients on IV antibiotics within 48 hours and switch them to oral
antibiotics according to blood results and clinical correlation.

1037 (SHOT) Serious hazards of transfusion: UK national haemovigilance
scheme

We have undertaken a gap analysis of the main recommendations from ND1152 —
The Annual Shot Report 2022, published by the Serious Hazards of Transfusion
(SHOT) Steering Group and the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory
Agency (MHRA).

The report details four main recommendations for all trusts to consider, including:

appropriate management of anaemia and making safe transfusion decisions
safe systems to ensure safe transfusions

effective implementation of appropriate interventions following investigations
learning from excellence and day-to-day events.

We are in the process of undertaking the actions from our improvement plan which
includes:

strengthening our standard operating policy (SOP) and processes for the
investigation and reporting of SHOT incidents. Our SSPOT is continuing to
work with the central patient safety team to improve processes and increase
the number of trained staff who are involved in reviewing and investigating
blood transfusion related incidents. The review of patient safety investigators
is also being undertaken by the central patient safety team in line with the
PSIRF recommendations

re-invigorating our Hospital Transfusion Committee (HTC) which will allow for
trust-wide sharing of decision making and responsibilities for the management
of safe transfusion practices, implementation of appropriate interventions,
governance and learning from excellence.

The following audits were reviewed during the year but did not require an action

plan:

6734 Injuries to non-mobile babies (<1 year)

6759 Clinical and anatomical outcome of external dacrocystorhinostomy
(DCR) surgery

6763 Identification of small for gestational age (SGA) babies

6777 Medical management of miscarriage

6787 Managing the initial care of babies cooled for Hypoxic-ischaemic
encephalopathy (HIE) over the last two years

6788 Contraception in women over 40

Page 86 Page 74 of 79



Annex 5: Mortality and learning from deaths
Mortality figures and reporting

Ref  Information required

Our response

27.1 | The number of its patients who | During 2023/24, 1,413 of our patients died
have died during the reporting in the acute and community hospitals. This
period, including a quarterly includes the Emergency department.
breakdown of the annual figure.

This comprised the following number
of deaths which occurred in each
quarter of that reporting period:

* 366 in the first quarter

» 322 in the second quarter

* 346 in the third quarter

» 379 in the fourth quarter.

27.2 | The number of deaths included | During 2023/24, 1,395 case record reviews
in item 27.1 which the provider [ have been carried out by the Medical
has subjected to a case record | Examiners in relation to the number of the
review or an investigation to deaths included above.
determine what problems (if
any) there were in the care This comprised the following number of case
provided to the patient, scrutiny which occurred in each quarter of
including a quarterly breakdown | that reporting period:
of the annual figure. * 366 in the first quarter

» 318 in the second quarter
* 341 in the third quarter
» 370 in the fourth quarter.

27.3 | An estimate of the number of During 2023/24 nine cases for which the
deaths during the reporting outcome was death were reported on the
period included in item 27.2 for | strategic executive information system
which a case record review or (STEIS). All these incidents had reports
investigation has been carried produced which were communicated to NHS
out which the provider judges Devon and discussed at our serious adverse
as a result of the review or event group which meets on a monthly basis.
investigation were more likely
than not to have been due to
problems in the care provided
to the patient (including a
quarterly breakdown), with an
explanation of the methods
used to assess this.

Page 87

Page 75 of 79




Annex 6: Mandatory indicators
Mandatory indicators are based on recommendations by the National Quality Board.
These align closely with the NHS Outcomes Framework and are based on data that
NHS trusts report on nationally.

Prescribed information

Comment

needs of our patients during the
reporting period.

12 (a) The value and banding of the SHMI 1.0007 (Dec 22 to Nov 23)
summary hospital-level mortality Statistically as expected.
indicator (‘'SHMI’) for the
organisation for the reporting period;
and
(b) The percentage of patient deaths | Palliative care 5.85 %, additional
with palliative care coded at either work has been undertaken to
diagnosis or specialty level for our ensure accuracy of coding
organisation for the reporting period.

18 Our reported outcome measures National data no longer collected
scores for: via patient reported outcome
Groin hernia surgery measures (PROMS)-therefore no

national comparison available.
varicose vein surgery This surgery is not routinely

undertaken in our organisation
hip replacement surgery No national data available
knee replacement surgery No national data available

19 The percentage of patients aged: No national data available
(i) 0 to 14 and
(ii) 15 or over
readmitted to a hospital which forms
part of our organisation within 28
days of being discharged from a
hospital which forms part of our
organisation during the reporting
period.

20 Our responsiveness to the personal | Data from the CQC inpatient survey

undertaken in April 2023 scored us
in the following categories:

e care and treatment scored
8.4/10 which is about the
same as national average.

¢ Respect and dignity 9.4/10
about the same as the
national average

e Overall experience 8.3/10
about the same as national
average

For maternity services:
e |abour and birth scored as

Page 88

Page 76 of 79



9.2/10-much better than
average

e Staff caring for you scored
8.6/10 about the same as the
national average

21

The percentage of staff employed
by, or under contract to, us during
the reporting period who would
recommend us as a provider of care
to their family or friends.

Data from the national staff survey
shows this metric has remained
static for substantive staff at 59.105
in 2022 and 60.32% in 2023

For bank staff in 2022 60.9% would
recommend us - this has increased
in 2023 to 68.6%

211

Friends and Family Test — Patient.
The data made available by
National Health Service Trust or
NHS Foundation Trust by NHS
Digital for all acute providers of adult
NHS funded care, covering services
for inpatients and patients
discharged from Accident and
Emergency (types 1 and 2)

Please note there is a not a
statutory requirement to include this
indicator in the quality accounts
reporting but provider organisations
should consider doing so.

23

The percentage of patients who
were admitted to hospital and who
were risk assessed for venous
thromboembolism during the
reporting period.

96% April 2023-March 2024
local data

24

The rate per 100,000 bed days of
cases of C. difficile infection
reported within our organisation
amongst patients aged two or over
during the reporting period.

42.5 per 100,00 bed days local data

25

The number and, where available,
rate of patient safety incidents
reported within our organisation
during the reporting period, and the
number and percentage of such
patient safety incidents that resulted
in severe harm or death.

12,091 patient safety incidents
reported between 01/04/2023 and
31/03/2024.

1,064 near miss incidents [8.8%)]
3,066 no harm incidents [25%]
1,628 low harm incidents [13.5%)]
361 moderate harm incidents [3%]
44 severe harm incidents [0.36%]
36 death incidents [0.3%)]

Page 89

Page 77 of 79



Glossary

Care Bundle: A set of interventions that, when used together, significantly improve
patient outcomes.

Care Quality Commission (CQC): An independent regulator responsible for
monitoring and performance measuring all health and social care services in
England.

Clinical Audit: The process by which clinical staff measure how well our
organisation performs against agreed standards. Action plans for improvement are
often based on the findings of an audit.

Clinical Pathways: The standardisation of care practices to reduce variability and
improve outcomes for patients.

Clostridium Difficile (C.Diff): A form of bacteria that is present naturally in the gut of
around 2/3s of children and 3% of adults. On their own they are harmless, but under
the presence of some antibiotics they will multiply and produce toxins (poisons)
which cause illness such as diarrhoea and fever. At this point, a person is said to be
infected with C. difficile.

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN): The CQUIN framework
supports improvements in the quality of services and the creation of new, improved
patterns of care.

DCIQ: web based clinical incident reporting and risk management software for
healthcare and social care organisations.

Friends and Family Test (FFT): The FFT is an important feedback tool that
supports the fundamental principle that people who use NHS services should have
the opportunity to provide feedback on their experience.

Governance: The systems and processes by which health bodies lead, direct and
control their functions in order to achieve organisational objectives and by which they
relate to their partners and wider community.

Information Governance (IG): Information Governance allows organisations and
individuals to ensure that personal information is dealt with legally, securely,
efficiently and effectively, in order to deliver the best possible care.

IG Toolkit: The Information Governance Toolkit is an online system which allows
NHS organisations and partners to assess themselves against Department of Health
Information, Governance policies and standards. It also allows members of the
public to view information of participating organisations.

HIVE: Our organisation’s e -learning platform

Microguide: The local medical guidance app for clinicians

Page 90 Page 78 of 79



Mortality Review: A process in which the circumstances surrounding the care of a
patient who died during hospitalisation are systematically examined to establish
whether the clinical care the patient received was appropriate, provide assurance on
the quality of care and identify learning, plans for improvement and pathway
redesign where required.

National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death (NCEPOD):
NCEPOD assists in maintaining and improving standards of healthcare for adults
and children by reviewing the management of patients and by undertaking
confidential surveys and research.

National Early Warning Score (NEWS): NEWS is a tool developed by the Royal
College of Physicians which improves the detection and response to clinical
deterioration in adult patients and is a key element of patient safety and improving
patient outcomes. NEWS?2 is the updated version of this tool.

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) The National Institute
for Health and Clinical Excellence provides independent, authoritative and evidence-
based guidance on the most effective ways to prevent, diagnose and treat disease
and ill health, reducing inequalities and variation.

Serious Incidents (Sls): Something out of the ordinary or unexpected. It is an
incident — or a series of incidents — that, if left unattended, may pose a risk to service
users or the health and safety of staff, visitors and others.

Structured Judgement Mortality Review: The SJR methodology has been
validated and used in practice within a large NHS region. It is based upon the
principle that trained clinicians use explicit statements to comment on the quality of
healthcare in a way that allows a judgement to be made that is reproducible.

Page 91 Page 79 of 79



This page is intentionally left blank



NHS

Torbay and South Devon
NHS Foundation Trust

Quality Account 2024/25

o6 abed

T Xipuaddy
G wal| epuaby

Nicola McMinn- Chief Nursing Officer
Maria Patterson Associate Director of patient safety and quality



]
TALDING X INHS'
Bl%mhtfl’ Torbay and South Devon
e NHS Foundation Trust

Purpose

to provide a briefing on our quality account for 24/25
to provide an update on our progress against our four quality goals

to socialise our newly reframed quality goals & priorities which are awaiting
approval

to highlight key priorities for our patient safety incident investigation for
2024/25

to contextualise the patient safety incident response framework (PSIRF)
within the context of the quality and patient safety strategy

to answer your guestions

). D D D P P



e Context of Improvement 2023/24

1. Recovery and Restoration of services continued to be challenged with SOFT 4 designation
TSDFT/Devon System in Autumn 2022 and extended periods in OPEL 4 status

2. System Wide Recovery Plan with focus on Planned and Emergency care and delivery of
financial defect across Devon ( £242.9m) - explicit/ improvement exit targets

Clinical Strategy for the system signalling wider clinical service transformation

System Recovery Program - strengthened governance and oversight at ICB/regional/national
level with additional support provided to the Trust

At Trust level the focus in 2023/24 and for the year ahead - building capacity /capability /
culture of continuous improvement - Training - Quality and Patient Safety Boards implemented
and embedded across the sites with core teams mobilising around key Quality Improvement.

6. Progressing the organisational reshaping program and creation of Care Group Structure
Good Governance Institute improvements around QA being implemented
8. Transition to the patient safety incident response framework (PSIRF)

w

619'5 :

"G6 °

o)

~



NHS

Torbay and South Devon
NHS Foundation Trust

National guidelines

» A Quality Account is a report about the
guality of services offered by an NHS
healthcare provider.

% Quality is defined in statute as:safety,

& clinical effectiveness and patient experience

D

© _ High quality

® The Department of Health and Social Care person-centred
requires providers to submit their final Quality a':gr‘:‘l}zirtaa'ﬂ'e

Account to the Secretary of State by June 30
each year, by uploading it to their own
website and forwarding the link to:

» Draft Quality Account will be submitted to
Quality Assurance Committee on 201" May
and Board on 26" June




TOCLDHG A

B 1 2023/24 we maintained a focus on:

Urgent Care Planned Care

Ensuring appropnate governance Ensure appropriate govemance

and processes are in place o and processes are in place to
support providers with improving their provide oversight and support
my) performance, whilst maintaining safe the system activity target of
) staffing levels in Ene with the improving elective performance
(e) sysiem’s UEC strategy. s S
® ystem
© Recovery
~ Programme

Supported by strategic enablers *rrrrrrrrreeed

* Long-term financial planning: Providing
assurance of the system’s position and
delivery against its targets.

Cost Improvement
Programmes

Identifying and delivering system-wide
CIP schemes and engaging with
senior sysiem leaders fo identify and
develop PiDs {0 close the financial

gap

» Clinical strategy and planning: Developing a
clinical recovery plan within the context of
wider transformation of clinical services across
Devon. This will enable the development of
mature clinical relationships across the
system.

NHS

Torbay and South Devon
NHS Foundation Trust

Supported by the System Recovery
Function which will set up the
infrastructure to delivery, including:

+ Governance
* Reporting

» Key processes, tools and templates e.q.,
Risk Management

* Integrated planning

« Communications



NHS

Torbay and South Devon
NHS Foundation Trust

Quality and patient safety goals and quality improvement
priorities 2023/24

a O
Quality goals

Continuously
seek out and
reduce harm

Falls
Improve

Deterioratin )
Improvement J experience on
discharge

Excellence In Excellence In
outcomes experience

Zero avoidable
deaths

86 obed

Priorities patient

Nutrition and
hydration




NHS

Torbay and South Devon
NHS Foundation Trust

Our quality improvement priorities — performance in 2023/24

x Zero avoidable deaths: Our goal is to be 100% compliance with the Sepsis 6 bundle. Focus on the

Emergency Department (highest risk area) overall compliance is 94% - the highest to date since reporting
. started. This priority will continue in 2024/25 to further embed.

x Continuously seek out and reduce harm: Our goal is 100% compliance with all risk assessments-

average compliance last quarter >96%. Risk assessments re nutrition and hydration saw a slight drop in

December to 85%. This work is now business considered business as usual.

Falls prevention: FallSafe audit shows improvements in lying and standing blood pressure (LSBP)

measurements of 70% and that 83% of patients received a vision assessment in December. Despite these

improvements in assessment the reduction in falls seen in 2021-23 appears to have plateaued and we have

seen an increase in harm associated with falls, a review is underway to identify themes and falls remains an

improvement priority for .

Improved identification of the deteriorating patient: December 2023 compliance position in the

completion of vital signs was 98.29%; NEWS2 training compliance rates (target 85%). This work is how

business as usual and will be overseen by the resuscitation committee.

Improved experience on discharge: The NHS national patient survey indicated that the Trust was in

the top 5% for key discharge measures. The monthly Patient Survey each month, ten randomly selected

patients who have been discharged are called to seek their feedback, in March 2024 71% of patients were

discharged to their preferred place. This work is now ‘business as usual’ and will be monitored by the patient

experience committee.

66 eﬂa

) S {



TOILDIMG A

Quality goal 1 — zero avoidable deaths

Improvement priority — 100% Compliance with Sepsis
Bundle (current average ED Sepsis bundle compliance =
86.9%)

Improvement interventions
» [Focus on improving our identification and management of
tients with sepsis to reduce the number of people who die
fflom septic shock.
> ®ocus has been within the Emergency Department with roll
t plan across high-risk areas in 2023/4

» @rust wide training package has been commissioned
currently 66% of clinical staff have completed the training

» Roll out of Trust Wide Sepsis Policy* (live April 2024)

» Focused improvement for ED in relation to antibiotic
administration alongside overall sepsis compliance.
Monitored on Quality board

» Roll out of audit compliance outside of the ED to all areas

Plan to continue to work on this priority to further embed

"Hare  Quality Goal: Zero avoidable deaths

NHS

Torbay and South Devon

Percentage Compliance for the Sepsis




Brighter”

“reduce harm

Torbay and South Devon
NHS Foundation Trust

Improvement Interventions in 2023/4 to reduce our falls

¥" Including Training ‘Lying and standing blood pressure’ we are
achieving 73% compliance against a national average of 39%

¥" Visual assessment tool has been rolled out and add to Fallsafe
bundle and 82.6% of patients were visually assessed in March 2024

¥" A rapid debrief is undertaken for any patient that falls

¥"  The reduction in falls seen over 2021-23 has plateaued, despite the
success in falls prevention pathway compliance

¥ Q?We have seen an increase in patient harm related to in hospital falls

¥ %Falls reduction will remain a priority for 2024/4

=
o
=

Lying and Standing B. P. Taken?

,..:: _:.L_':- f‘vb

e S e e el
MY i e i1 Tl s e W
o o " - B . - n & T 4
,‘_;3 'Q& ‘2‘# -..'_'-:JF. \‘b ‘aﬁ% ;,__'iq l:_':;;"' ‘&-.p {:F- -{EQ ..;‘E? ‘;.,t'

tn

b %) e A at

=Pl =—=Comm.Hosp. - -Acute - Medical —=s=—Acute - Surgical

Rate of Falls per 1,000 Occupied Bed Days
Hospital Inpatient Only
73 73

5.8 58
531 53 50 53 g 595 36 53

4 2.9 2.9
18 18 19 4 23 19 18 23 19 23

o1 02 03 0.1 0.3 0.2

Q1 Q@ a3 o4 1 92 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q48 Q1 Q2 Q3 o4
2020421 2021/22 2022/23 2023724

=== f|| Severities === Resulting in Harm Only Mod [ Severe f Death




o QUality Goal: Continuously seek out and NHS

Brighter”

Torbay and South Devon

red u C e h ar m 7 V | NHS Foundation Trust

Supporting a nutritional risk assessment to be undertaken within 24 hours
of admission

» The monthly Safety Assessment Audit, which encompasses a wide range
of parameters, including the nutrition risk assessment and care plan, is
undertaken on one specific day each month, across all inpatient wards. Applicable Patients Receiving Nutritional Risk Assessment - Trustwide

Data from these audits are used at Ward and Care Group level, with a 100% - m_i—‘i_t:—"‘..:ﬁ:i::;t::‘
governance audit trail evident. 80%

60%

e

» Performance for January and February 2024 was 94.9% and 98.0%

Jespectively. 40%
18 20%
» Jhere has been an in overall increase in compliance in the completion of %+
%Iut”tlon and Hydratlon I’ISk aSSGSSI’nentS Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23  Jul-23  Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Now-23 Dec-23 Jan-24 Feb-24
Mar-23 | Apr-23 | May-23 | Jun-23 | Jui23 | Aug23 | Sep23 | Oet-23 | New-23 | Dec23 | lan-24 | Feb24
) ) ) _ s | R VR SE[% | 9B1% | 96.8% | 96.5% | SE4% | OED% | 96.8% | 95.3% | 95.2% | 96.6% | 94.9% | SED%
> Compllance and |mprovements are COﬂtIﬂUOUS|y monitored by the Matron sl Received <2ahrs | S0.7% | 920% | 92.3% | 92.1% | 9L7% | OLE% | BS.O% | BEA% | ES.1% | BA.&% | S0.3% | 945%

and ADNPP and reported through the Care Group Governance Meetings
and weekly ward meetings.

» The number of risk assessments received in 24hrs has increased from
90.3% in January 2024, to 94.5% in February 2024. The Nutrition and
Hydration Steering Group has experienced a reduction in attendance from
all Care Groups due to system pressures and Opel 4.

» Intervention around mealtime companion has been slow due to no
investment and LTS in volunteer team.



NHS

 Quality Goal: Excellence in outcomes e

Quality Priority: Improved identification of the deteriorating patient

Project Overview

The deteriorating pafient is a patient that moves from one clinical state to a worse
clinical state, increasing their risk of disease, organ failure, prolonged hospital stay
or death. Being able to recognise and act on these changes are essential skills to
improving patient safety and outcomes. Deteriorating patient is part of Quality Goal
3 — Excellence in Outcomes for Patients, as set out in the GQuality and Patient Safety

Long Term plan 2021 — 2024 Project period Oct 22- March 24
To achieve this by

= Delivery of training and education to support identification and escalation of the
deteriorating patient ([NEWS2 and S035)

>
(© * Regular process and audit monitoring through the Group and via Quality Boards, and
@ auditing the CQUIM for deteriorating patients which looks at timely and appropriate
= escalation
8 = Targeted support for wards where reguired.

Oct-22 Mar-24

13

11
L

The number of wards compliant with the timeliness of observations increased from 13 to
21. This is a large improvement that contributes directly to patient safety.

Key Performance Indicators and achievement

100% compliance with vital signs monitoring{ complete set obs)- currently at 28.47%

100% compliance with Early Warning score escalation

+  Observations »85% wvital signs unbreached. March 24 whole trust achieved 89.13% Targeted
support offered to non-compliont areas and continued ongoing monitoring

+  Achieving within 3% Observations taken at night (Actual and Planned) {12 midnight — 6am,
minimum of one set of observations) improving, discrepancies remain largely due to community
hospital process. Discussions and support are ongoing.

+  100%, compliance annual training- data recordead on Hive (currently set on hive as B5%) Below
chart demonstrates improvement

NEWS2 Training Compliance

100% —larget 85%
89.10%
B0%
&0%
an
40 31%
20%
s D
lanuary 23 MOHNTH February 24

Next steps.. increased 505
training & Formic audits



TOILDIMG A

seher’ Quality Goal: Excellence in experience e

NHS Foundation Trust

Improved experience on discharge

Patient feedback through the NHS patient survey 2023 showed we were performing in the top 5% for
the following:

. information was given on who to contact on discharge if you were worried about your condition and
treatment?

. after leaving hospital did you get enough support?

. g the survey provided assurance as no questions relating to discharge fell within the bottom

H8me for Lunch March 2024:

2856 of people were discharged before 12 noon a 5.7% increase from same period 2023

73.3% before 5pm, again an improvement of 6% on the same period for 2023

Enhanced discharge lounge- the number of people transitioning through the discharge lounge has doubled

Preferred place of discharge of those patients sampled in March 2024 71% of patients were discharged to
their preferred place.

Monitoring patient experience on discharge is now considered ‘business as usual’ and will be monitored by the
patient experience committee.



NHS

Torbay and South Devon
NHS Foundation Trust

Quality goals and priorities 2024/25

Q9

Reduce Health
Inequalities

+

Seek To
Reduce
Harm

GOT obed

Excellence
In Clinical
Outcomes




FULDING l INHS
B%Et?é Torbay and South Devon

NHS Foundation Trust

Quality improvemet priorities 2024/25

Seek out and reduce Excellence in Deliver what matters Reducing health
— harm clinical outcomes most to our people inequalities

emergency and e oG 6 U el address health care

I delays
Impr_OV_E_ment Safeguarding (MCA/
priorities DOLS)
T

Delays across elective pathway
Pat.ler.lt safety diagnostic pathway errors
priorities for

Quality goals

90T abed

S Del U&E path
investigation elays across pathways

Engaging patients and families in safety reviews and investigations

National Standards for invasive procedures (NaTSSIPs 2)




NHS

Torbay and South Devon
NHS Foundation Trust

Patient safety
X We transitioned to PSIRF on 01 February 2024 PSIRF does not prescribe what to investigate, instead
advocating a coordinated and data driven approach to maximise learning and improvement

x The four principles of PSIRF

1. compassionate engagement and involvement of those affected by patient safety incidents

2. application of a range of systems-based approaches to learning from patient safety incidents
3. considered and proportionate responses to patient safety incidents

4. supportive oversight focused on strengthening response system functioning and improvement.

X‘LOI abed

The National safety standards for invasive procedures 2 (NaTSSIP’s 2) guidance was issued in
2023. A working group will be established to map progress and to deliver against these objectives
to enhance patient safety.

x Focus on just learning culture and compassionate engagement with those affected.

)i( Supporting our patient safety partners

x Application to pilot Martha’s Law



NHS

Torbay and South Devon
NHS Foundation Trust

Our quality improvement priorities — 2024/5

x Continuously seek out and reduce harm focus on:
Compliance with the Sepsis 6 bundle, focus on the Emergency Department (highest risk area)

MCA/ DOLS/ safeguarding-
X Excellence in outcomes focus on:
¥ Reducing falls and harm sustained from falls
@ Reducing elective and emergency care delays to improve outcomes
i Listening to our people :
Focus on engaging patients and families in safety reviews and investigations and just learning
culture
)( Reduce health inequalities
We are committed to seeking out and reducing healthcare inequalities across our system. Due to
the diversity of our organisation, we will ask each care group to identify their focus based on
identified need e.g. such as reducing smoking, access to our services, quality and experience of
care. Engagement plan being developed.



60T-90ed «

B‘H‘.}}f‘ Engagement plan regarding quality goals

24/25 and priorities

ADNPP and Matrons - quarter 4 2024

CNO, CMO, COO and senior leadership team- quarter 4 2024
Governors- May 2024

Trust Management Group-May 2024

Executive- May 2024

Healthwatch- May 2024

Executive Quality Group — May 2024

Integrated Care Board CNO - May 2024

Final Draft to Quality Assurance Committee - May 20" 2024
Audit Committee-May 2026

Board - June 26" 2024

Publication deadline 30" June 2024

NHS

Torbay and South Devon
NHS Foundation Trust



NHS

Torbay and South Devon
NHS Foundation Trust

Next steps

» Patient safety and Quality strategy is due for review this year

+» Focus on guality goals and priorities throughout the next 12 months

» Continued use of the quality board in clinical areas.

<+ Just learning culture programme to be rolled out

» Continue to embed PSIRF

+» Focus on guality goals and priorities throughout the next 12 months

» Engagement with our patients and people, including those involved in patient
safety events.

» ? Governors quality priority for 25/26

OTT obed



FULDING i INHS
B%mhtfr Torbay and South Devon

e NHS Foundation Trust

Your
guestions




BENLD ING A

Bnghter
re

Thank you

Our Eetate



Agenda Item 7

TORBAY COUNCIL

Meeting: Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Date: 10/10/2024

Wards affected: All

Report Title: Public Health update on infection prevention, antimicrobial resistance, and Winter
vaccination programmes

When does the decision need to be implemented? n/a

Cabinet Member Contact Details: Hayley Tranter, Cabinet member for Adult and Community Services,
Public Health and Inequalities, hayley.tranter@torbay.gov.uk

Director Contact Details: Lincoln Sargeant, Director of Public Health, lincoln.sargeant@torbay.gov.uk

Author: Julia Chisnell, Consultant in Public Health julia.chisnell@torbay.gov.uk

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 This report gives an overview of the work of the public health team and partners in the following
areas, with specific reference to planning for Winter:

¢ Preventing and managing outbreaks through good infection control
e Tackling the threat presented by anti-microbial resistance

e Promoting health through uptake of the Winter vaccine programmes.

2. Reason for Proposal and its benefits

2.1 The programmes of work described in this report will help us to deliver our vision of a healthy, happy
and prosperous Torbay by helping to prevent and manage the spread of infections.

2.2 There are significant risks associated with the spread of infection, and the development of
antimicrobial resistance. This paper outlines plans and activities designed to tackle these risks at

national and local level.

3. Recommendation(s) / Proposed Decision

3.1.1 Members are asked to note the report and to support efforts to tackle the spread of infection and
antimicrobial resistance.

Page 113


mailto:hayley.tranter@torbay.gov.uk
mailto:lincoln.sargeant@torbay.gov.uk
mailto:julia.chisnell@torbay.gov.uk

Supporting Information

1.

Introduction

Background

Infection prevention & management

11

1.2

Good infection prevention and control is the cornerstone of the prevention of infectious disease and
the spread of infections. NHS and Social Care settings in England are required to follow national
guidance in relation to infection prevention and control. This is updated regularly and is used by the
Council and our NHS and Care colleagues to promote best practice and monitor compliance.

Guidance is available here: NHS England » National infection prevention and control manual
(NIPCM) for England; Infection prevention and control in adult social care settings - GOV.UK

(www.gov.uk)

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR)

13

1.4

15

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

Antimicrobial resistance is one of the top global public health and development threats. The size of
the problem is well described by the World Health Organisation (WHO), who are the leading agency
calling for global action.

Antimicrobials include antibiotics, antivirals, antifungals, and antiparasitics. They are medicines
used to prevent and treat infectious diseases in humans, animals and plants.

Antimicrobial resistance occurs when bacteria, viruses, fungi and parasites no longer respond to
medicines. With this drug resistance, infections become very difficult to treat. AMR is a natural
process happening over time through genetic changes in these organisms. But the process is sped
up through human activity, for example the misuse or overuse of medicines across human, plant
and animal health sectors.

The WHO estimates that bacterial antimicrobial resistance is directly responsible for well over a
million deaths worldwide each year, and contributes to almost five million deaths.

As medicines become less effective, there will be greater risks not just from infection but from all
surgical procedures and treatments such as chemotherapy. As well as the cost to life and health,
the economic burden is substantial.

[Antimicrobial resistance (who.int)]

The WHO published a global AMR action plan in 2015. This has five objectives: awareness and
education; surveillance and research; infection measures to reduce infections; optimising the use of
medicines in human and animal health; and sustainable investment in new medicines and vaccines.

The UK government published a 20 year vision for AMR in 2019. This looked for action across
human and animal health and the environment to tackle AMR through policy, regulation, treatment
of infections, ‘good stewardship’ of medicipﬁagaedlg_sqarch and development, by 2040.


https://www.england.nhs.uk/national-infection-prevention-and-control-manual-nipcm-for-england/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/national-infection-prevention-and-control-manual-nipcm-for-england/
https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/antimicrobial-resistance

1.10

As part of the vision, the government committed to delivering on a series of five year action plans.
The second of these was published this year: Confronting antimicrobial resistance 2024 to 2029 -
GOV.UK (www.gov.uk). This figure summarises the objectives of the action plan under five themes:

Reducing the need for, and unintentional Optimising the use of antimicrobials
exposure to, antimicrobials

1. Infection prevention and management 4, Antimicrobial stewardship and disposal
» |nformed interventions @ + Clinical decision support
+ The built ervironment Appropriate prescribing and disposal

* Waste minimisation and effactive Behavioural interventions
waste management

2. Public engagemeant and education
* PFublic awareness and campaigns @
Use of educational settings

Engagament guide

L]

. AMR workforce

h

Health and social cane training

Health and social care workiorcs

Health and social care governance
Vetarinary workforce knowledge and skills
Systems to support animal health

-

3. Strengthened surveillance

« Optimising surveillance and responsa
Surveillancea ta inform interventions

-

. Innevation and influence

AMBR solutions

Subschption models
Owercoming market barriers
Improverment and adoption

il

. AMR diplomacy

|

. Using information for action Prevention and prepanadness

Access and stewardship
Antimicrobial use in farming

_ » . - Standards for manufacturing
8. Health disparities and health inequalities and waste management

» [Data on health inequalities * Advocacy and engagement
Health inequalities toolkit

*  Haalth inequalities interventions

Evidence generation and use
Research networks

-
LI

@® @60 ©

Investing in innovation, supply and access Being a good global partner

Winter vaccine programme

1.11

1.12

1.13

1.14

The annual Autumn/Winter vaccination programme provides vital protection to keep people from
developing serious illnesses and ending up in hospital during the busy Winter months.

Each year, the Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI) recommends which groups
should receive which virus, based on the latest scientific evidence. Flu and Covid vaccines are now
established in the annual programme, and this year there is a further vaccine — RSV (Respiratory
Syncytial Virus) — being introduced for certain groups.

This year, free flu vaccines are being offered, from September/ October, to people 65 or over,
pregnant women, children from 2-16, and those in a clinical risk group. Residents of care homes,
unpaid carers, contacts of people who are immunosuppressed, and frontline health and care
workers, are also eligible. Flu season usually peaks in December and January, so starting adult
vaccinations from October will ensure those most at risk are protected during the colder months
when people gather indoors and viruses spread.

Free Covid vaccines are being offered, in the same timescales, to adults 65 and over, care home
residents (older age), those in a clinical risk group, including pregnancy and frontline health and
care workers.

Page 115


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-5-year-action-plan-for-antimicrobial-resistance-2024-to-2029/confronting-antimicrobial-resistance-2024-to-2029
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-5-year-action-plan-for-antimicrobial-resistance-2024-to-2029/confronting-antimicrobial-resistance-2024-to-2029

1.15

1.16

2.

The new RSV vaccine is being offered to pregnant women (from 28 weeks to protect the infant), and
adults 75-80.

For adults eligible for both vaccines, the NHS will make flu and COVID-19 jabs available at the
same time, giving the option to get protection from both viruses in one visit. However it is more
effective for people to have the RSV vaccination on a different day from flu or COVID-19
vaccinations.

Local action to tackle infection

Infection prevention & management

1.17

1.18

1.19

1.20

Our work during the Covid pandemic highlighted the importance of high infection control standards.
The public health team, with UKHSA (the national and regional agency responsible for health
protection), adult social care, and infection management colleagues, worked closely with local
providers to prevent and manage outbreaks using the principles of infection control.

This work continues as Care providers share experience and good practice through their
management networks, and the Torbay Adult Social Care Providers Newsletter promotes infection
prevention advice and updates on the latest guidance.

A very important role is undertaken by the Devonwide Community Infection and Management
Service (CIMS). This was set up in April 2020, at a coincidentally critical time for infection
management in the community. The CIMS service operates on a ‘hub and spoke’ basis,
coordinated from NHS Devon with a small team in each of the hospital trusts in the county. CIMS
colleagues at the Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust were invaluable through the
pandemic and continue to provide advice, support and guidance to community health and social
care settings in Torbay. They are crucial when there is an outbreak, and even more important in
working to get systems in place to prevent outbreaks from occurring.

The Public Health team, with UKHSA, also provide some proactive infection prevention and control
support to non health and care settings such as the hostel, asylum hotels (when in place),
businesses, schools and early years.

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR)

1.21

1.22

1.23

AMR is effectively part of the infection management strategy. If drugs become ineffective, then
infections will be rife; if infections spread, then drug resistance is more likely to develop.

Torbay Public Health is part of a South West health protection network group. As a network,
together with NHS partners, we developed an Infection Prevention and Management Strategy 2024-
29 to strengthen infection management and tackle AMR. There are five themes: prevention, citizen
engagement, health inequalities, workforce development, data and digital, sustainability, and
collaboration and partnership.

Across Devon and Cornwall, we have a hew Peninsula Antimicrobial Resistance Group where
partners are developing local priorities against these target actions, in relation to AMR.

Page 116



1.24

1.25

And at local level, Public Health in Torbay convened a local AMR group in 2023, where we are
working with partners in the NHS, Environmental Health, Medicines Optimisation (pharmacy), and
UKHSA, to try and turn these commitments into practice. Although there is no dedicated resource
to support work to tackle AMR, there is substantial enthusiasm, driven by an understanding of the
risks if no action is taken. Local activities include promoting good infection control and AMR with
schools and early years, building on the good relationships, and key messages, developed through
the pandemic. Children are ideal ambassadors and there are tools to support this work, for example
the national eBUG training based on the national curriculum Home (e-bug.eu), and the opportunity
to promote tackling AMR through the Antibiotic Guardian pledge: Antibiotic Guardian — Pledge to be
an Antibiotic Guardian.

A key activity currently is planning for WHO World Antimicrobial Awareness Week 18-24 November
2024: World AMR Awareness Week 2024 (who.int), with a range of promotional activities.

Winter vaccine programme

1.26

1.27

1.28

1.29

1.30

1.31

1.32

Vaccination is also a major defence against AMR, as vaccines prevent infection and therefore the
need for medicines.

As in previous years, Torbay Primary Care Networks are offering Covid and Flu vaccinations at the
English Riviera Centre. For those only eligible for the Flu Vaccine, this will be given at their GP
practice.

In Torbay, our uptake of Flu and Covid vaccines is good for the 65+ age-groups. All areas received
a boost to numbers during the Covid pandemic and, although rates have reduced each year since
2021, they have remained above target for Flu (75%). Our uptake for people in clinical risk groups
is below the 55% target for the Flu vaccine, again reducing since 2021, in common with Devon,
England, and the South West.

Our rates tend to be slightly below those in Devon for most vaccinations, mirroring the high
proportion of deprivation which is a key factor in low uptake. Therefore our efforts continue to be to
target vaccine uptake in the higher risk, and the lower socio-economic, groups, in particular ‘taking
the vaccine to where people are’ through outreach clinics, and using local trusted voices to get the
message across.

The Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust Maternity Service has active plans in place to
promote and deliver all three Winter vaccines to pregnant women through the season. This is a
group where uptake nationally and locally could be much higher, offering increased protection from
infection to both the mother and the child.

This year the Devon vaccine outreach team is committing to running more clinics earlier in the
season in Torbay, to help us to reach our target populations in our town centre areas and our
homeless community. There are also 23 pharmacies signed up to provide Covid vaccines in Torbay
and South Devon (87 across Devon as a whole).

The Winter communications programme is under way, with the ‘Get Winter Strong’ campaign
launched on 30 September, focusing on getting vaccine rates up: 18,000 flu-related deaths in past 2

winters as jab uptake falls - GOV.UK (www.qgov.uk)

Page 117



https://www.e-bug.eu/
https://antibioticguardian.com/
https://antibioticguardian.com/
https://www.who.int/campaigns/world-amr-awareness-week/2024#:~:text=The%20World%20AMR%20Awareness%20Week%20(WAAW)%20is%20a%20global%20campaign
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/18000-flu-related-deaths-in-past-2-winters-as-jab-uptake-falls
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/18000-flu-related-deaths-in-past-2-winters-as-jab-uptake-falls

1.33

3.1

4.1

5.1

6.1

7.1

8.1

In Torbay we work in partnership with the NHS and partners across Devon to promote the national
messages through the season, with a local angle where practical. Key messages for this year are:
‘choose well’; get your vaccine; when and how to access your GP; when to use pharmacies and
self-care; and support for mental health and wellbeing.. We are also working to include more social
support in our communications, covering benefits, pension credit, warm homes, food and transport,
all of which are important to helping people to stay warm, active and healthy through the Winter
months.

Financial Opportunities and Implications

None identified

Legal Implications

None identified

Engagement and Consultation

Programmes include communications and engagement plans with local communities and target
groups.

Procurement Implications

None identified

Protecting our naturally inspiring Bay and tackling Climate Change

Anti-microbial resistance is strongly linked with climate change and tackling one can help to tackle
the other. Sustainability is a target area in the South West Infection Prevention and Management
Strategy which we are all signed up to deliver.

Associated Risks

The risks of poor infection control and of failing to tackle anti-microbial resistance are described in
the paper. The aims of these programmes are to put in place measures to address these risks.

Page 118



9. Equality Impact Assessment

Protected
characteristics under
the Equality Act and
groups with increased

Data and insight

Equality considerations (including any
adverse impacts)

Mitigation activities

Responsible
department
and timeframe
for

Torbay residents answered that
their day-to-day activities were
limited a little or a lot by a
physical or mental health
condition or illness.

higher risk.

in the vaccine
programmes.

vulnerability implementing
mitigation
activities
Age 18 per cent of Torbay residents Age is a risk factor for infection. Age guides targeting of
are under 18 years old. infection control measures
55 per cent of Torbay residents including vaccine
are aged between 18 to 64 years programmes.
old.
27 per cent of Torbay residents
;? are aged 65 and older.
@arers At the time of the 2021 census Carers are a risk group. Vaccine programmes
= there were 14,900 unpaid carers target carers.
'5 in Torbay. 5,185 of these
provided 50 hours or more of
care.
Disability In the 2021 Census, 23.8% of Those with clinical risk conditions are at These groups are targeted

Gender reassignment

In the 2021 Census, 0.4% of
Torbay’s community answered
that their gender identity was not
the same as their sex registered
at birth. This proportion is similar

It is not anticipated that programmes will
have a specific positive or negative
differential impact based on this
characteristic.




to the Southwest and is lower
than England.

Marriage and civil
partnership

Of those Torbay residents aged
16 and over at the time of 2021
Census, 44.2% of people were
married or in a registered civil
partnership.

It is not anticipated that programmes will
have a specific positive or negative
differential impact based on this
characteristic.

Pregnancy and
maternity

Over the period 2010 to 2021,
the rate of live births (as a
proportion of females aged 15 to
44) has been slightly but
significantly higher in Torbay
(average of 63.7 per 1,000) than
England (60.2) and the South
West (58.4). There has been a
notable fall in the numbers of live
births since the middle of the last
decade across all geographical
areas.

Pregnancy, and infants, are at additional risk.

These groups are targeted
for vaccination.

0Ol abed

In the 2021 Census, 96.1% of
Torbay residents described their
ethnicity as white. Thisis a
higher proportion than the South
West and England. Black, Asian
and minority ethnic individuals
are more likely to live in areas of
Torbay classified as being
amongst the 20% most deprived
areas in England.

It is not anticipated that programmes will
have a specific positive or negative
differential impact based on this
characteristic.

Religion and belief

64.8% of Torbay residents who
stated that they have a religion in
the 2021 census.

It is not anticipated that programmes will
have a specific positive or negative
differential impact based on this
characteristic.

Sex

51.3% of Torbay’s population are
female and 48.7% are male

It is not anticipated that programmes will
have a specific positive or negative




differential impact based on this
characteristic.

Sexual orientation

In the 2021 Census, 3.4% of
those in Torbay aged over 16
identified their sexuality as either
Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual or, used
another term to describe their
sexual orientation.

It is not anticipated that programmes will
have a specific positive or negative
differential impact based on this
characteristic.

Armed Forces
Community

d

In 2021, 3.8% of residents in
England reported that they had
previously served in the UK
armed forces. In Torbay, 5.9 per
cent of the population have
previously served in the UK
armed forces.

It is not anticipated that programmes will
have a specific positive or negative
differential impact based on this
characteristic.

ope

dditional considerations

Ecio—economic impacts
cluding impacts on
child poverty and
deprivation)

People in more challenged socio-economic
circumstances are at greater risk of low
vaccine uptake.

These groups are targeted
for vaccine outreach.

Public Health impacts
(Including impacts on
the general health of the
population of Torbay)

All programmes are designed to improve
population health.

All programmes are
designed to improve
population health.

Human Rights impacts

Services and providers will remain cognisant
of human rights, including the right to life,
health, privacy, education and prohibition of
discrimination.

Child Friendly

Torbay Council is a Child
Friendly Council and all staff and
Councillors are Corporate

Infection prevention, AMR, and vaccine
programmes all have activities targeting
children.

Infection prevention, AMR,
and vaccine programmes




Parents and have a responsibility
towards cared for and care
experienced children and young
people.

all have activities targeting
children.

2cT abed




10. Cumulative Council Impact

10.1 Planning for Winter includes all areas of the Council to a varying degree, and relevant teams are
involved in preparation and delivery.

11. Cumulative Community Impacts

11.1 All of these programmes involve close partnership working across the Integrated Care System,
including voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) sector, and all are intended to promote
and improve health across the whole of our population.

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Action Tracker

Date of
meeting

Minute
No.

Action

Comments

/09/24

Geg abed

That the Adult Social Care and Health

Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board notes the

Director of Public Health’s Annual Report

2024: Women’s Health and that the Cabinet

be requested to support:

1. development of flexible and inclusive

employment practices to reflect and
encourage women into education and
employment; raising awareness of the
impact of domestic abuse on women
who experience it, and the sensitivity
of response needed to meet their
needs; improvement to access:
experience and outcomes for women’s
healthcare through Torbay’s women’s
health hub; recognition and support of
grass roots women’s groups and
activities as integral components of
mental health and wellbeing provision;
development of integrated service
delivery pathways for women’s health
care, reducing the need to attend
multiple appointments for routine
health care; and development of
inclusive approaches that facilitate and
support girls and women to become
more physically active.

. That the final Director of Public

Health’s Annual Report be presented
to members of the Sub-Board at the
launch on 9 October 2024

. That the outcomes arising from the

Director of Public Health’s Annual
Report be presented to a future
meeting of the Sub-Board.

1. Report submitted to the Cabinet on 26 November 2024.
2. Check if the report was circulated on 9 October and them
mark this one as complete.

3. Complete item added to the Work Programme.

g wa)| epuaby



Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Action Tracker

05/09/24

That the Director of Public Health be
recommended to work with Your Health
Torbay and GP Practices to review
signposting information to patients once they
have been identified as having or being at
risk from cardiovascular disease or high
cholesterol etc. to provide better signposting
to relevant support and options for

improved wellbeing and not assume that
people know what actions they should be
taking and to develop relevant factsheets for
Councillors and members of the

community to use to encourage people to
identify issues and follow up with

relevant behaviour changes or seek
necessary support.

Lincoln Sargeant to provide an update.

9¢T abed




Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Action Tracker

05/09/24

/2T abed

10

. That the Director of Public Health be

requested to liaise with Healthwatch
on relevant strategies to see where
they can Help to engage and
represent the voice of the user and to
ensure that Healthwatch are informed
of the impact

of any of their reports.

. That the Director of Public Health be

requested to include a link to the
Healthwatch website and contact
details on the Council's website to
raise

Awareness.

. That the Director of Adult and

Community Services be requested to
produce a brief guide on the current
cost of living social support available
and that this message also be shared
with the Public Health Team to include
with their communications around
system winter planning.

1. Complete

2. Lincoln Sargeant to provide an update.

3.

4. A note was circulated from (enter details of the note you

Lincoln Sargeant to provide an update.

circulated from Amanda Moss). Jo Williams to provide an
update.

05/09/24

11

. Democratic Services Team Leader to

chase up the meeting requested by
Councillor Brook to work on
homelessness;

. The revised Dementia Strategy be

presented to a future meeting of the
Sub-Board.

1. Complete - the meeting has been scheduled.
2. Complete added to the Work Programme.




Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Action Tracker

08/08/24

That the Cabinet be advised that the Adult
Social Care and Health Overview and
Scrutiny Sub-Board supports the Draft
Homelessness Strategy 2024 — 2030 being
included within the Council’s Policy
Framework and that the Cabinet be
recommended that a key data table with clear
key performance indicators be included within
the Action Plan, to measure performance of
the Strategy and impact, including details of
external influences.

The Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategy 2024 —
2030 is due to go to Cabinet on 12 November 2024 and to
Council on 5 December 2024. The Sub-Board’s
recommendations will be appended to the report to
Cabinet/Council.

08/08/24

(Item: Peninsula Acute Sustainability
Programme — draft case for change)

That the ICO be requested to ensure further
consultation includes engagement within a

CEO and Chief Medical Officer, Torbay and South Devon NHS
Foundation Trust have received a copy of the minutes of the
meeting including recommendations. They have indicated that
the revised Case for Change should be complete by November
2024. This has been noted on the Sub-Board’s work

T clinical setting (for example, hospital and GP | programme so that NHS can be invited to provide an update at
D waiting rooms). a future meeting.
D . . . . CEO and Chief Medical Officer, Torbay and South Devon NHS
(Item: Peninsula Acute Sustainability ) . .
- Programme — draft case for change) Foundation Trust have received a copy of the minutes of the
g meeting including recommendations. They have indicated that
08/08/24 the revised Case for Change should be complete by November
That the l.CO. be requested to ensure further 2024. This has been noted on the Sub-Board’s work
consultation includes engagement with S .
: - " programme so that NHS can be invited to provide an update at
patients, families and local charities. .
a future meeting.
. . . . CEO and Chief Medical Officer, Torbay and South Devon NHS
(Item: Peninsula Acute Sustainability dati h ived fthe mi £ th
Programme — draft case for change) Foundation Trust have received a copy of the minutes of the
meeting including recommendations. They have indicated that
08/08/24 the revised Case for Change should be complete by November

That the ICO be requested to ensure further
consultation includes the use of both social
media and surveys.

2024. This has been noted on the Sub-Board’s work
programme so that NHS can be invited to provide an update at
a future meeting.




Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Action Tracker

08/08/24

(Item: Peninsula Acute Sustainability
Programme — draft case for change)

That the ICO be requested to ensure
engagement with the Voluntary Sector to
encourage survey responses from individuals
who may not otherwise be confident in
participating, articulating or responding
directly to the survey.

CEO and Chief Medical Officer, Torbay and South Devon NHS
Foundation Trust have received a copy of the minutes of the
meeting including recommendations. They have indicated that
the revised Case for Change should be complete by November
2024. This has been noted on the Sub-Board’s work
programme so that NHS can be invited to provide an update at
a future meeting.

08/08/24

(Item: Peninsula Acute Sustainability
Programme — draft case for change)

That the ICO be requested to ensure that the
Summary Document and Survey contain
accessible language to encourage effective
engagement.

CEO and Chief Medical Officer, Torbay and South Devon NHS
Foundation Trust have received a copy of the minutes of the
meeting including recommendations. They have indicated that
the revised Case for Change should be complete by November
2024. This has been noted on the Sub-Board’s work
programme so that NHS can be invited to provide an update at
a future meeting.

6¢T abed




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Torbay and South Devon NHS Trust Quality Account 2024
	Governors Quality Account presentation 01.05.24FINAL
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: Purpose
	Slide 3: Context of Improvement 2023/24
	Slide 4
	Slide 5: In 2023/24 we maintained a focus on:
	Slide 6: Quality and patient safety goals and quality improvement priorities 2023/24  Board
	Slide 7: Our quality improvement priorities – performance in 2023/24
	Slide 8: Quality Goal: Zero avoidable deaths
	Slide 9:    Quality Goal: Continuously seek out and reduce harm
	Slide 10: Quality Goal: Continuously seek out and reduce harm
	Slide 11: Quality Goal: Excellence in outcomes
	Slide 12:    Quality Goal: Excellence in experience
	Slide 13
	Slide 14: Quality improvement priorities 2024/25
	Slide 15: Patient safety
	Slide 16: Our quality improvement priorities – 2024/5
	Slide 17: Engagement plan regarding quality goals 24/25 and priorities
	Slide 18: Next steps
	Slide 19: Your questions
	Slide 20: Thank you


	7 Infection prevention and control - incorporating vaccine preventable illnesses and antimicrobial resistance (AMR)
	8 Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Action Tracker

